8370

The Distributional Impact of the Fiscal System in Albania

María E. Dávalos Monica Robayo-Abril Esmeralda Shehaj Aida Gjika



Abstract

In a context of fiscal consolidation and the need to deliver on a structural reform agenda, policy makers in Albania must not lose sight of the critical redistributive role of the fiscal system, particularly its impact on poverty and inequality. Using household survey data, this paper estimates the redistributive effect of fiscal policy on income distribution and poverty in Albania, assessing the individual and combined effects of taxes and public social spending. The findings show that the fiscal system in Albania plays a positive role in reducing inequality. Yet, it has a moderate poverty-increasing effect. Specifically, taxes and social protection contributions have a poverty-increasing effect; indirect taxes, particularly the value-added tax, account for the largest increases in poverty. This effect is somewhat compensated by direct government transfers, which are pro-poor and equalizing, but are not large enough to offset fully the negative impact on the taxation side. Ongoing reforms aimed at improving the efficiency and targeting of social assistance can contribute to enhancing the pro-poor impact of the fiscal system.

The Policy Research Working Paper Series disseminates the findings of work in progress to encourage the exchange of ideas about development issues. An objective of the series is to get the findings out quickly, even if the presentations are less than fully polished. The papers carry the names of the authors and should be cited accordingly. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this paper are entirely those of the authors. They do not necessarily represent the views of the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/World Bank and its affiliated organizations, or those of the Executive Directors of the World Bank or the governments they represent.

This paper is a product of the Poverty and Equity Global Practice. It is part of a larger effort by the World Bank to provide open access to its research and make a contribution to development policy discussions around the world. Policy Research Working Papers are also posted on the Web at http://econ.worldbank.org. The authors may be contacted at mdavalos@ worldbank.org and mrobayo@worldbank.org.

The Distributional Impact of the Fiscal System in Albania¹

María E. Dávalos, Monica Robayo-Abril, Esmeralda Shehaj and Aida Gjika

JEL classification: H22, I38, D31

Keywords: fiscal policy, inequality, poverty, taxes, transfers, Albania

¹ This analysis was prepared as part of the Poverty Program for the Western Balkans in the Poverty and Equity Global Practice of the World Bank, by a team including María E. Dávalos (Senior Economist, World Bank), Monica Robayo-Abril (Economist, World Bank) and Esmeralda Shehaj and Aida Gjika (consultants). The authors are grateful for comments received from Maynor Cabrera, Barbara Cunha, Karolina Goraus, Maddalena Honorati, Gabriela Inchauste, Nora Lustig, Sandra Martínez and Stephen Younger.

Table of Contents

I. Introduction	3
II. Overview of the fiscal system in Albania	5
III. Methodology	9
IV. Applying the Method to Albania: Data and Empirical Strategy	12
Household Survey Data	12
Fiscal Interventions Included	12
Empirical Strategy	13
Model performance	17
V. Results: Distributional Impact of the Net Fiscal System in Albania	18
VI. Incidence, Progressivity and Marginal Contributions of Taxes and Social Spending	21
Taxes and Contributions	23
Direct and In-Kind Transfers	26
VII. Additional applications for policymaking	28
VIII. Conclusions and Policy Insights	31
IX. References	32
X. Annexes	37

I. Introduction

Albania's economy is expanding and the economic outlook is positive. Following a slowdown in growth since the global economic crisis, the Albanian economy has been accelerating in recent years and is expected to grow at a rate of 3.6 percent in 2017, driven mostly by private investments and consumption.

Faster economic growth has translated into improvements in living standards. Although data availability remains a constraint to measuring poverty post 2012,² recent estimates suggest that the poverty rate (at US\$ 5.5/day, 2011 PPP) has been gradually decreasing. After a rise during the global economic crisis and a negative across-the-board consumption growth, poverty has been declining (Figure 1), mostly linked to improvements in labor markets.





Source: Calculations based on ECAPOV harmonization, using 2012-LSMS. Projection using neutral distribution (2012) with pass-through = 0.87 (Med) based on private consumption per capita in constant LCU. Poverty projections start in 2013; projections on private consumption start in 2016.

Beyond the role of labor markets, the fiscal system can also have important effects on living standards. Evidence across countries has shown that taxes and transfers can have quantitatively important effects on poverty and inequality. Understanding how the fiscal system in Albania impacts households, beyond the specific impact of one intervention but from a more comprehensive standpoint, can shed light on its redistributive effect and contribute to the agenda of growing the middle class in Albania.

Moreover, sustaining economic growth and poverty reduction in Albania calls for macroeconomic stability and delivering on the structural reform agenda with an equity lens. This includes efforts towards fiscal consolidation, as well as judiciary reforms, energy reform, enhancing public

investment management, and improving skills. As part of this reform agenda, the government plan for the next four years, with fiscal stabilization as a central objective, includes changes to specific fiscal interventions at the individual level, such as the personal income tax. As part of the reform process, it is key to understand the distributional impacts of policies and, if relevant, ensure that mitigation mechanisms are in place to protect the less well-off.

 $^{^2}$ The latest LSMS survey, which is the household survey used to measure national poverty, was last carried out in 2012. The country has collected the income-based EU SILC data for the first time with results to be released by October 2017, including the reporting of indicators aligned to those of EU countries. The World Bank is supporting capacity strengthening in the statistical agency to also measure and monitor welfare using the Household Budget Survey.

To our knowledge, no previous study has examined the distributional effects of tax policy or the fiscal system as a whole. There has been substantial work in better understanding the role of fiscal policy in Albania. Some studies looked at the effect of fiscal policy on economic growth (Shijaku & Gjokuta, 2013; Milova & Vokshi-Abazi, 2014; Trebicka, 2015; Patonov, 2016), the macroeconomic effects of fiscal policy in general (Mançellari, 2011; Llollari & Kripa, 2016; Merko *et al.*, 2017), the effects of a flat tax rates on inequality and informal employment in particular (Mara & Narazani, 2011), the performance of the tax system (Fortuzi & Doda, 2015), and the perceptions of the current tax system (Muceku & Balliu, 2017). However, none of these studies evaluates the role of fiscal policy in reducing poverty and inequality. Also, it is surprising that despite the abundance of empirical research on fiscal policy in Albania, only one study (Mara & Narazani, 2011) focuses on micro-level analysis (household or individual level).

The majority of these empirical studies tend to support the contribution of fiscal policy on economic growth, while stressing the larger economic effect of government revenue than government expenditure (Shijaku & Gjokuta, 2013; Patonov, 2016). Similar results, though not on economic growth, were reached by Mançellari (2011), where taxes appear to have a positive effect on macroeconomic variables (interest rates, consumption, savings), different from the (mostly) insignificant economic effect of expenditure. In the same vein, Merko *et al.* (2017) suggest the negative impact of government consumption and debt on current account. While the above studies focused on the macro-level, the study of Mara and Nazari (2011), which focuses on the micro-level, investigates the labor supply decision (accounting for informality) in the presence of different tax systems. By simulating changes in the latter, Mara & Nazari (2011) argue over the superiority of the progressive tax, while acknowledging the simplicity of the flat tax.

This paper uses standard incidence analysis to comprehensively assess the impact of the fiscal system on poverty and inequality in Albania, in order to inform the dialogue around fiscal reform with an equity lens. It also benchmarks Albania to other countries in which a similar methodology has been applied. In particular, the analysis employs the Commitment to Equity Methodology (Lustig and Higgins, 2017), already applied in many countries around the world and across regions, to explore: a) How much income redistribution and poverty reduction is achieved in Albania through the fiscal system (taxes, subsidies and social spending), b) Who bears the burden of taxes and receives the benefits?; c) How equalizing and propoor are particular fiscal interventions, and how equitable is the use of education and health services?, and d) What is the expected impact of changes in the size and progressivity of a particular tax (i.e. the personal income tax) on poverty and inequality outcomes.

The analysis relies on the 2015 Household Budget Survey collected by INSTAT, together with macroeconomic and fiscal data from the national income accounts in Albania. The analysis does not incorporate behavioral or general equilibrium effects. Moreover, using an input-output matrix it captures the indirect effects of excise taxes on intermediate goods, since these can be important as they are passed through to prices of all other goods. Given the available data, the analysis incorporates the fiscal components that capture around 70 percent of fiscal revenues, in particular direct taxes (personal income tax and social security contributions) and indirect taxes (household-paid VAT and excises). On the spending side, it captures social spending (education, health and social protection), which amounts to 45 percent of

total government spending and comprise the key categories with potential non-neutral distributional effects.³ This is more or less in line with coverage of components of fiscal policy in other countries.⁴

The CEQ analysis usually excludes some categories of taxes and spending such as corporate income taxes, defense, spending on infrastructure, and other public goods due to the difficulty of assigning the benefits or burdens to individual households. This is more likely to be true for the poverty analysis, which depends on absolute incomes, than inequality, which depends on relative incomes.

Our findings show that the fiscal system in Albania plays a positive role in reducing inequality, while it has a poverty-increasing effect. The fiscal system contributes to reducing inequality from a Gini coefficient of 0.35 at market income (pre-fiscal income) to 0.32 after all taxes and transfers are considered. However, in the baseline scenario of pensions treated as pure deferred income, it also contributes to increasing poverty, going from 7.5 percent to 8.1 percent (\$2.5-day poverty line). Specifically, while direct and indirect taxes and social contributions have a role in reducing inequality, they also have a poverty-increasing effect; indirect taxes, particularly the VAT, account for the largest increases in poverty. This effect is somewhat compensated by direct transfers (with programs such as the *Ndihma Ekonomike*) which are pro-poor and equalizing, but not large enough to fully offset the burden placed on the less well-off.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section II describes the fiscal system in Albania, providing the context for this paper. Sections III and IV describe the methodology, as well as the application to Albania, respectively. Results are presented in sections V and VI, including the impact of the fiscal system on poverty and inequality, with a subsequent zooming into the role of taxes and transfers. Section VII showcases some additional uses of the tool for policy making, by simulating changes in the personal income tax, and Section VIII concludes.

II. Overview of the Fiscal System in Albania

The structure of the fiscal revenue in Albania relies heavily on indirect taxes, as well as direct taxes and social contributions. Table 1 shows that the Value-Added Tax (VAT) represents nearly 33 percent of the government total revenue and 9.1 percent of GDP. When compared to the other taxes collected from tax offices and customs, VAT accounts for about half of the revenue. In addition, the excise tax revenues represent 11 of total revenue and about 3.1 percent of GDP. Direct taxes and contributions, namely the Personal Income Tax (2.2 percent of GDP), and Social Insurance and Health Insurance (4.8 percent of GDP), also provide an important source of revenue to the government, representing 25 percent of overall government revenue.

³ We will see later that in-kind transfers, namely public spending in health and education, have an important and positive redistributive effect in Albania.

⁴ In Croatia, the analysis captures 83 percent of tax revenue and 65 percent of government spending (Inchauste and Rubil, 2017). In Poland, it captures 62 percent of tax revenue and 51 percent of government spending. In Montenegro, 79 and 42 percent is captured, respectively.

	Fiscal Data	Fiscal Data
	(in million leks)	(% of GDP)
TOTAL REVENUE	398,210	27.6%
Grants	12,000	0.8%
Tax Revenue	355,610	24.7%
From tax offices and customs	272,358	18.9%
V.A.T	131,203	9.1%
Profit Tax	23,547	1.6%
Excise Tax	44,900	3.1%
Personal Income Tax	31,803	2.2%
National Taxes and others	35,582	2.5%
Customs Duties	5,323	0.4%
Local Taxes	12,563	0.9%
Local Taxes	7,066	0.5%
Property Tax	4,017	0.3%
Simple profit tax of small business	1,480	0.1%
Revenues from Special Funds	70,689	4.9%
Social Insurance	59,888	4.2%
Health insurance	9,201	0.6%
Revenues for owners' in value-compensation	1,600	0.1%
Nontax Revenue	30,600	2.1%
Profit transfer from BOA	962	0.1%
Income of budgetary institutions	20,127	1.4%
Dividend	2,011	0.1%
Services Fees	3,400	0.2%
Others	4,100	0.3%

Table 1. General Government Revenue, in million leks and as a percentage of GDP, 2015

Source: Albanian Ministry of Finance (2017). Notes: includes central and subnational revenues.

Key features of these key taxes and contributions (further detailed in Annex 3) are as follows:

- *Personal Income Tax:* In 2014, Albania adopted a new progressive income tax system from a flat tax rate system of 10 percent. Earnings from employment are now taxed at progressive rates depending upon the tax brackets they fall into 0 percent up to 30,000 ALL⁵; 13 percent from 30,000 ALL to 130,000 ALL; and 23 percent for earnings above 130,000 ALL. All other personal income, except those from employment, are subject to 15 percent tax rate. Several income categories are exempted from taxation such as pensions, scholarship and all type of benefits received from an obligatory social and health insurance scheme. As to the self-employed (with an annual turnover up to ALL 8 million), the above thresholds do not apply any longer, rather a simplified tax on the profit is foreseen.
- Value Added Tax (VAT): The Value-Added Tax in Albania is a proportional tax levied at two different rates: 20 percent as standard rate, 0 percent on special products (See Law no. 92/2014 for more details).⁶ Firms that produce or sell with these two rates are also eligible for reimbursement

⁵ ALL: Albanian leks.

⁶General Directorate of Customs (2015).

if they have an excess credit (on the VAT paid for the inputs). Also, there are various products that are exempted from this tax and for which firms cannot reclaim the VAT paid for the inputs.

- *Excise:* Excise duties is an indirect tax per unit (per liter, kilogram) levied on manufactured and specific imported goods that are considered to cause "harm" or are luxury goods. The main categories of goods taxed are fuel, alcoholic drink and tobacco and cigarettes.
- Social and Health Insurance Contributions: Employed persons and their employers shall be liable to pay social and health care insurance contribution. In calculating social insurance, Albania relies on a system of minimum and maximum gross salary boundaries (ALL 22,000 and ALL 97,030). The employee's contribution rate is 9.5 percent while the employer pays 15 percent. The contribution rate for health care insurance is 3.4 percent on the monthly gross salary, with the employer and the employee paying equal shares, respectively 1.7 percent and 1.7 percent. On the other hand, the self-employed pay 23 percent for social security and 3.4 percent for health insurance, but for the latter the contributions are calculated on the double of the minimum wage. While these contributions are compulsory for all economically active persons, resident in Albania, other non-active persons can voluntarily pay the social and health contribution.

On the spending side, social protection, education and health are among the largest categories. Overall expenditures in Albania amounted to 32.8 percent of GDP in 2015, with a large share of spending under the social protection category amount 9.12 percent of GDP (Table 2).

	Fiscal Data (in million leks)	Fiscal Data (% of GDP)
TOTAL SPENDING	4,726,966	32.79%
General Public Services	329,629	2.29%
Defense	107,797	0.75%
Public Order and Safety	245,217	1.70%
Economic Affairs	359,213	2.49%
Environmental Protection	16,784	0.12%
Housing and Community Amenities	244,376	1.70%
Health	409,841	2.84%
Recreation, Culture and Religion	26,083	0.18%
Education	403,988	2.80%
Social Protection ⁷	1,314,368	9.12%
Unclassified Expenditures	1,269,670	8.81%

Table 2. General Government Spending in million leks and as a percentage of GDP, 2015

A summary of the changes of the tax laws for 2014, (in force as from January 1st, 2014 if not otherwise defined in the below provisions) Law No.9920.

⁷ Social Protection includes social security contributory pensions (old age pension, family pension, disability pension and short-term benefits), non-contributory benefits (i.e. *Ndihma Ekonomike*, unemployment benefit, disability benefits, social pension, child birth grant, nursing benefits) and other social spending under "Special Programs of the Government".

Source: Albanian Ministry of Finance (2017). Notes: includes central and subnational spending.

Some of the key spending elements of social spending include the following:

Economic Assistance (Ndihma Ekonomike): Ndihma Ekonomike is an economic family allowance, cash and in-kind, to families in need and individuals with special status. Eligible families are families living in extreme poverty or with insufficient income, unemployed orphans over 25 years who are not living in institutions or under foster care, orphans between 18 and 25 years who are not settled to institutions of social services or under guardianship, parents of triplets (or more than triplets) with insufficient income, and victims of domestic violence. The benefit amount depends on the area these families live in, family structure characteristics, etc.⁸ The average monthly benefit in 2015 was ALL 4,525 (per family) (approximately 1.9 US\$/day in 2005 PPP) distributed to 79,530 families (State Social Service, 2016), whereas the maximum did not exceed ALL 8,000, irrespective of the family structure or other conditions. Despite the increasing number of families receiving this benefit, *Ndihma Ekonomike* represents only 0.31 percent of GDP.

- Unemployment benefit: The unemployment benefit is a contributory benefit paid to workers who were previously employed and contributed for at least 12 months, but now are unemployed by no fault of their own. This benefit is funded by the tax on employers. Despite an increase in 2016, this benefits remains still very low (only 50 percent of the minimum wage). In 2015, the unemployment benefit was ALL 6,850 per month (approximately US\$ 88 per month in 2005 PPP), which represents approximately 1.7 percent of GDP.
- *Old-age Pension:* Contributors, men age 65 and women age 60, with at least 35 years of contributions are entitled to an old-age pension. Gradual increases (two months per year) of the retirement age are foreseen by the law until the retirement age for both sexes reaches 67 years old. However, if elderly people age 70 do not receive any pension under the compulsory scheme and have no or insufficient income, they become eligible to a social pension of ALL 6,750 per month (approximately US\$ 87 per month in 2005 PPP), which started implementation recently in 2015. In total, there are 474,475 beneficiaries in 2015, while the spending accounts only for 5 percent of GDP.
- *Energy Subsidies:* The beneficiaries entitled to the energy compensation are families that receive social assistance (*Ndihma Ekonomike*), disability pension, old-age pensioners, paraplegics and tetraplegics, and low-income families with a monthly salary below 35,000 ALL/month. The compensation received by these families in 2015 is 1,288 ALL/month (approximately 0.1 percent of GDP), from which 648 ALL/month is benefited as compensation for the removal of the protective threshold category of the energy consumption of 300kW/month and 640 ALL/month is received as compensation for the increase in the electricity price (up to 200 kWh per month).
- *Education (in-kind transfer):* The majority of pupils and students attending school are enrolled in the public system. In the academic year 2014-2015, the public education system accounted for: 90 percent of enrollment in primary schools, 89 percent of enrollment in secondary education, and 85 percent of enrollment in post-secondary education (Ministry of Education and Sports of Albania, 2016). The first two levels of education are compulsory and free. Both central and local governments are responsible

⁸ Tirana, Durrës and Elbasan are considered as pilot area and the benefit amount changes when compared to the other areas.

for these levels: serving pupils from preschool to the ninth grade (primary education) and serving students from tenth grade up to the twelfth grade (secondary education). As to the third level of education (bachelor, master and doctoral studies), spending is carried out only by the central government. The total spending on education in 2015 was 2.80 percent of GDP, a share with low variation during the last decade. This account for 8.5 percent of total government spending.

• *Health (in-kind transfer):* The health system in Albania is mainly public, both for primary and hospital services. In-kind health benefits are offered to: (i) the insured population that pays compulsory health contributions, (i) self-insured persons who either are formally self-employed or voluntary pay contributions, (iii) economically inactive persons, whose contributions are paid by the state budget or other categories defined by the law⁹ (children below the age of 18, old-age pensioners, persons receiving social assistance etc.), and (iv) the uninsured population who may wish to access the public health system, by direct out-of-pocket payments from those individuals. The total amount spent on health in 2015 reached 2.84 percent of GDP, totalling 40,984 million ALL. This accounts for 8.7 percent of total government spending.

Further details of these subsidies and transfers are provided in Annex 4.

III. Methodology

To assess the distributional impact of the fiscal system in Albania, the analysis follows the Commitment to Equity Methodology (CEQ) developed by Lustig (2017). The methodology is centered around defining a set of income concepts that include or exclude specific fiscal interventions (Figure 2), to evaluate the impact of the fiscal system and specific fiscal interventions on poverty and inequality. How much does the fiscal system contribute to changing market income inequality? Does it contribute to reducing poverty? Which taxes and transfers are progressive and/or pro-poor? What would be the distributional impact of changing a fiscal instrument? These are some of the questions that are answered in the paper.

The analysis relies on and calculates the following key income concepts:

- **Market income** (or market income plus pensions) includes factor income such as wages and salaries, income from capital (rents, profits, dividends, interests), private transfers (remittances and other private transfers such as alimony, etc.) before taxes, and social security contributions.
- **Market income plus pensions,** equals market income plus the subsidized portion of the income from contributory pensions.
- Net market income, constructed by subtracting direct taxes and contributions (personal income taxes and employee contributions to social security) from market income plus pensions.
- **Disposable income**, adds direct transfers to net market income, thus including a combination of added transfers and subtracted direct taxes and contributions.
- **Consumable income (or post-fiscal income)**, subtracts indirect taxes (VAT and excises) from disposable income.
- **Final income**, adds in-kind transfers to consumable income, namely social spending on health and education.

⁹ See law No. 10 383, dated 24.2.2011, "On Compulsory Health in the Republic of Albania" for more details.

The treatment of contributions to pensions and income from pensions in a country may differ depending on the design and functioning of the pension system. There is no consensus in the literature on how to treat pensions as it depends on the design and functioning of the pension system in each country; normally two scenarios are constructed: a benchmark case in which pension income is treated as pure deferred income, and thus included in market income; a second (sensitivity) scenario in which pension income is treated as a pure government transfers, and pension contributions as a direct tax.

The analysis relies on typical indicators of a standard incidence analysis to unpack the distributional impact of the fiscal system,¹⁰ which include commonly-used measures of progressivity, poverty and inequality:

- Concentration coefficient: The coefficient of concentration (or quasi-Gini) is an index summarizing the concentration curve of a tax or transfer, and it ranges between -1 and 1. The curves from which this measure is derived depict the cumulative percentage of households (from poor to rich ranked by market income) on the horizontal axis and the cumulative percentage of tax (transfer) paid (received) by each centile. This is used jointly with the pre-fiscal (before any taxes and transfers are accounted for) income Gini to construct the Kakwani index.
- Kakwani index: A useful summary statistic to measure progressivity. The Kakwani index for taxes is defined as the difference between the concentration coefficient of the tax and the Gini for pre-fiscal income; for transfers, it is defined as the difference between the Gini for pre-fiscal income and the concentration coefficient of the transfer. A Kakwani index for taxes will be positive (negative) if a tax is globally progressive (regressive). A Kakwani index for transfers is positive if a transfer is progressive in relative terms.¹¹
- **Redistributive effect**: it captures the marginal contribution of the net fiscal system element(s) to the Gini coefficient of inequality. The marginal contribution is understood as the difference between the Gini coefficient with and without the tax or transfer. If positive, it captures a redistributive effect, so a decline in the Gini.
- **Poverty reduction effect**: it captures the marginal contribution of the net fiscal system element(s) to a poverty headcount defined at a certain poverty line. Again, the marginal contribution is understood as the difference between the poverty rate with and without the tax or transfer. If positive, it captures a poverty reduction effect, so a decline in poverty.

It is worth noticing that a progressive tax is not necessarily equalizing (positive redistribution effect) or poverty reducing (positive poverty reduction effect).¹² Also, the net fiscal system can be equalizing but impoverishing.¹³ Therefore, measures of progressivity need to be combined with marginal contributions to assess the effect of specific instruments on poverty and inequality to get a full picture.

¹⁰ For additional information see Lustig and Higgins (2017).

¹¹ A tax is globally progressive if the proportion paid in relation to pre-fiscal income increases as income rises. This is the case if the concentration curve lies everywhere below the pre-fiscal income Lorenz curve. A transfer is globally progressive in relative terms if the proportion received in relation to pre-fiscal income decreases as income rises. This is the case if the concentration curve lies between the pre-fiscal income Lorenz and the 45-degree line.

¹² The first phenomenon is known in the literature as the "Lambert" conundrum (Lambert, 2001; Lustig and Higgins, 2017). Taxes, for instance, can be regressive according to the Kakwani index but when combined with transfers make the system more equalizing than without the regressive taxes. For a thorough discussion see, for example, Enami, Lustig, and Aranda, 2017.

¹³ See Higgins and Lustig (2016).

The methodology focuses on first-order effects, meaning it does not account for behavioral responses to changes in the net fiscal system. It is also assumed that the economic incidence of direct taxes and contributions are borne entirely by the income earner, and the burden of indirect taxes is borne by consumers.

Figure 2. Income Concepts – CEQ Methodology (Benchmark Case- Contributory pensions as deferred income)



Contributory Pensions as Deferred Income

Source: Lustig, Nora and Sean Higgins. 2018. "The CEQ Assessment: Measuring the Impact of Fiscal Policy on Inequality and Poverty," in Commitment to Equity Handbook. Estimating the Impact of Fiscal Policy on Inequality and Poverty, edited by Nora Lustig (Brookings Institution Press and CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

IV. Applying the Method to Albania: Data and Empirical Strategy

Household Survey Data

The analysis uses data from the 2015 Household Budget Survey (HBS) for Albania, which provides information on the socio-economic situation of the Albanian households. The HBS is a continuous survey of private households covering the entire territory of Albania, representative at the urban and rural level, and at the prefecture level. It collects data both from a 14-day diary and a direct interview. In 2015, it interviewed 7,335 households. The 2015 HBS 2015 combined with macroeconomic and fiscal data from national income accounts for 2015. The section below on assumptions details the shortcomings of the HBS data for this analysis, and how these were addressed.

Although the HBS reports income data, its overall quality, particularly for labor income, is low. Disposable income seems to be largely underreported in the HBS, as shown by a consumption aggregate¹⁴ that is 2.5 times higher than the reported disposable income. Labor income is collected at a household level and not at an individual level, and estimates of labor income per employed for households with employees in the formal-sector employees are much smaller than estimates from administrative data.¹⁵ These estimates suggest a large underreporting of labor income, likely linked to the high informality rates and a large agricultural sector in Albania. Given this, the analysis follows recommendations (Lustig 2017) of using consumption instead of income as a basic measure for incidence analysis when income data are unreliable. In this case, the starting point is to set disposable "income" equal to the household consumption identified in the survey. From there, the method goes backwards to estimate market income (removing direct transfers, and adding direct taxes and contributions), and forward (removing indirect taxes and adding in-kind transfers) to estimate consumable and final income, respectively.

The analysis is complemented by data from national accounts, administrative information for certain programs and design features of each specific intervention.

Fiscal Interventions Included

On the revenue side, the analysis includes the personal income tax (PIT), social security contributions, VAT and excises. These account for 78 percent of the total tax revenue and 70 percent of the total fiscal revenue. Therefore, the analysis does not include other taxes that affect households, such as custom tax and property taxes (at 0.4 and 0.3 percent of GDP respectively). Although it does not directly include taxes paid by firms (profit tax or VAT by firms), it is assumed that, in equilibrium, firms pass the VAT tax burden to consumers (full pass-through).

On the spending side, the analysis includes social protection spending, as well as health and education spending. These account for 45 percent of the total spending and 62 percent of the total classified spending

¹⁴ This consumption aggregate includes new durables only, excludes imputed rent (only paid rent is included) and represents about 56% of private consumption in the national accounts).

¹⁵ Our survey-based estimate of household labor income per employed worker for these type households is approximately 35,000 ALL/month (450 US\$/month in 2005 PPP) while in administrative data the average wage is 46,829 ALL/month (603 US\$/month in 2005 PPP) based on the enterprises' payrolls declared to the General Directorate of Taxation (Source: INSTAT).

in 2015. Other spending categories (defense, public order and safety) and are likely to be less relevant from a distributional impact perspective.

Empirical Strategy

The empirical strategy is described below, including the assumptions made for the allocation methods used to match household-level data with fiscal and program information, and to work around the challenges encountered given the microdata at hand.

Direct taxes

The application of the method to Albania includes **personal income taxation** and **social security contributions**. It assigns the statutory rates for wage and self-employed to those formally employed (informality assumption explained below) by grossing up labor income. It assumes that the burden of taxes paid by the employer falls fully on the employees.¹⁶

The application of the methodology to Albania makes assumptions of **labor market informality**, which implies non-payment of personal income tax or social security contribution. Those assumed to be formal in the labor market and contributing to PIT and SSC are private sector employees with a permanent job or indefinite time contract, or temporary job with short term contract; or employees of the public sector or international organizations. The informal workers include the private sector employees in temporary jobs without a contract, occasional or seasonal job, and unpaid workers. The informality rate derived from this assumption (among the employed 15-65) is 33 percent in 2015, which is comparable to 31.4 percent in the 2015 Labor Force Survey.¹⁷

Two important challenges were present in identifying individual labor income. The first challenge was the identification of the portion of household disposable income (in this case equivalent to total household consumption) that was attributable to labor market income. Given that labor income data in the survey was assessed to be largely underreported, some steps were taken and assumptions made to identify labor income: (i) direct transfers and market income from other sources, as reported in the survey, were subtracted from total consumption; (ii) the residual, labor income, was scaled-down at the household-level and for all households. The adjustments were made across the board, using as a scale down factor the matching of formal-sector wages in the survey with the corresponding wages in administrative data.

The second challenge relates to assigning the total labor income identified to employed members earning income within the household (thus excluding unpaid family workers), given the lack of individual-level wage or earnings data for each household. This is important in Albania given the progressivity in personal income taxes. Data showed that a large share of households with earners had only one employed household member (57 percent), in which case all labor income (from wage or self-employment) was assigned to that person. If more than two household members worked (35 percent) and were wage employed, labor income was assigned using ratios for main and second earner estimated from the Labor Force Survey 2013, conditioning on educational levels.¹⁸ If two or more people in the household were self-employed (with only

¹⁶ As in Lustig and Higgins (2017).

¹⁷ Informality here is expressed as the share of informal work relative to non-agricultural employment. Source: INSTAT, official estimates.

¹⁸ We need to allocate labor income across household members conditioning on education. To do that, we run Mincerian regressions using wage data in the LFS to estimate the ratio of main to second earners. These regressions were run separately for the following

a few of these cases in formal employment, thus relevant to taxation), it was assumed that this was a family business so all but one member were assigned the minimum wage, and one person was assigned the remainder subject to a self-employment flat tax rate.¹⁹ For households with one wage and one self-employed, the model uses ratios from the income data reported in the survey between these two income sources to assign it to each of the two household members. For the cases in which more than two peopled worked (8 percent), labor income was equivalently assigned in per capita terms.

Pensions and social protection spending

The methodology for Albania uses the **old age pension income** received from pensions in Albania, as well as the income from several **social protection programs** - including the two main social assistance programs in Albania, as reported in the household survey.

Old age pensions are treated as savings/deferred income and thus part of market income, as in many other countries around the world that have conducted this type of analysis. Given the contributory nature of pensions and their size relative to market income in Albania but, most importantly, their unique lifecycle aspect - with people contributing throughout their working lives to receive income in old-age – recording them as pure Government transfers may not be accurate. Nevertheless, as explained below, results for both scenarios are presented.

The survey captures information on other sources of income treated as transfers. This includes disability pension, survivor pension, unemployment benefits, social/care services for the elderly and disabled, and *Ndihma Ekonomike* (NE, the poverty targeted social assistance program). Even though, by design, some of these are contributory benefits, their contributions and benefits are usually treated as taxes and transfers in these types of analyses given their shorter-term nature and people's perceptions of these as such (as opposed to savings). Nevertheless, given their small size with respect to households' total income, results are not expected to be influenced by this methodological choice. These categories do not match perfectly with the full spectrum of benefits available in Albania, some quite small in coverage and benefit, so households might be attributing the source of certain benefits to others. Nevertheless, the main benefits – disability pension and *Ndihma Ekonomike* – are presented separately in the survey and likely more accurately reported. Due to data limitations, the disability income cannot be disaggregated into disability assistance (non-contributory) and disability pension (contributory). Given that the number of beneficiaries of NE in the survey is significantly underestimated when compared to administrative data, a propensity score matching method was applied, following the methodology by Souza, Osorio, and Soares (2011),²⁰ resulting

household types: A) Households in which both members have tertiary education; B) Households in which no member has tertiary education; C) Households in which one member has tertiary and the other does not. Then, the estimated coefficients are used to allocate labor income in the different household types. In A) The main earner received around 10 percent higher labor income than the second earner. In B) The premium is about 20 percent, while in C) this is 19 percent. We focused on tertiary since previous evidence for Albania showed that the wage premia is larger for tertiary.

¹⁹ This assumption implies that only the owner is subject to self-employment taxation rules. Small businesses in Albania are usually owned by one person and, although all family members work in this business, they are usually treated as wage employed and registered with the authorities as such. The latter rule is strengthened and better implemented from 2015 onwards given the increased efforts of the government against informality. In addition, there are incentives from the household side to register other household members as minimum-wage salary workers under the family business, as they would be 0% PIT rate instead of self-employment taxes.

²⁰ This method is commonly used to adjust for underestimation of beneficiaries of a particular program. The method consists in imputing beneficiaries that did not report to be recipients of the NE program in the survey, but are "likely beneficiaries". First, we run a Probit model of program participation against household per capita consumption, possession of various household assets and

in 87 percent of the beneficiary households recorded in administrative data to be identified in the survey,²¹ and a total 9.3 percent of all households in Albania as beneficiaries of this social assistance program in the survey. For the disability pension benefit, 41 percent of beneficiary individuals recorded in administrative data are identified in the survey.²²

Targeted **energy transfers** are not captured in the HBS, so they are simulated into the data. We do not have information on beneficiaries and benefits received, so we estimate the latter based on the program rules. In particular, we use the eligibility criteria of the benefit to identify beneficiary households and assign the monthly benefit amount to the family (1,288 new leks per month). Households are eligible if they either (i) receive poverty targeted cash transfer (*Ndihma Ekonomike*); (ii) have household heads who receive a disability pension, but without other employed household members; (iii) have household heads who receive an old age pension, but without any income from employment, and/or working age members in the household; (iv) have government workers receiving a salary of less than 35,000 ALL, but without other employed household members.

We assumed that all of those who are eligible receive the subsidy. This assumes perfect targeting and takeup. Despite this assumption, the simulated number of beneficiaries in the survey is smaller than in administrative accounts (approximately 153,965 and 203,928 respectively, still capturing 90 percent). Assuming program leakage and imperfect take-up will lead to an even higher underestimation of beneficiaries.

Indirect taxation

Indirect taxes are simulated using data on households' reported consumption of the corresponding items. The team applies the **VAT** rate to the consumption item of the households. However, given the high evasion in Albania on payment of VAT, many consumers may not directly pay indirect taxes. We can either model tax evasion by assuming those who purchase in certain areas are tax evaders, or by assuming effective tax rates that reflect the rates paid in reality.²³ Given lack of quality data on place of purchase, we assume an effective VAT tax rate of 14 percent (compared to the 20 percent statutory VAT rate).²⁴ This assumption was informed by existing analysis of VAT efficiency²⁵ and by data on VAT revenue collection. Total VAT collection captured in the household survey represents 54 percent of total VAT collection in national

consumer durables, number of children and other sociodemographic variables. Then, we randomly sampled households out of the beneficiary households and match these beneficiary households to non-beneficiary households with the closest propensity scores. Program benefits of NE are then imputed to the matched households, where the amount of benefit imputed is equal to the amount received (reported in the survey) by the household's matched beneficiary household. The idea is so match the number of beneficiaries in the survey to the national accounts as closely as possible. However, in our case, we do not match exactly the number of beneficiaries in administrative data due to some restrictions with the method: namely, the number of beneficiaries who need to be randomly sampled and matched to non-reporters has to be lower than the number of beneficiary households. The original number of recipient households in the survey was 38,588. Applying the method, we simulate around 69,568 beneficiaries, still less than the 79,339 recipients in administrative data (which represent about 10.4% of the population).

²¹ 79,530 households in administrative data vs. 69,569 in the survey (with the simulation).

²² 156,940 individuals in administrative data (including disabled persons, caregivers and working disabled) vs. 63,900 in the survey. This may be partly driven by misreporting, if out of the beneficiaries only disabled persons reported this benefit under the disability pension category in the Household Budget Survey, while other beneficiaries may consider this benefit as a wage.

²³ Rajemison, Haggbalde and Younger show that using statutory rates can overestimate the impact of indirect taxes on income.
²⁴ The idea is to apply a tax evasion that is distributionally neutral since we found that, when using the data on place of purchase

available in the survey, the distributional impacts were quite sensitive to the different assumptions made. ²⁵ IMF (2016) estimates the compliance gap in Albania to be around 34-39 percent of potential VAT.

²⁵ IMF (2016) estimates the compliance gap in Albania to be around 34-39 percent of potential VAT. https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2016/cr16143.pdf

accounts. However, given that reported consumption in the household survey is lower than consumption in national accounts, the most appropriate validation is that total VAT collected in the survey as a ratio of total household consumption in the survey, is in line with the same comparison at the level of national accounts (VAT revenue vs private consumption). The analysis does not include VAT paid by businesses.

For excises, the exercise captures the direct effect of excises (i.e. excises paid directly by households when purchasing manufactured and specific imported goods subject to this tax), as well as the indirect effects that fuel taxes may have on products' prices. The latter is done using an input-output matrix for Albania in 2013 with 35 categories, to then map household consumption expenditures from the HBS to the I/O production sectors. The excise is applied by measurement unit of the product, for which some assumptions were made in cases where the survey did not contain sufficient information to differentiate between products. This was the case, for example, for excises of beer which depend on the alcohol content, not observed in the survey. Based on local knowledge, it was assumed that beer contained on average 5 percent alcohol content. Similarly, on fuel spending, the survey does not contain information on quantity consumed but only on total expenditure. Quantities are estimated using average prices based on the monthly reports of the Ministry of Energy. In terms of evasion, the compliance gap for excises is estimated to also be large, as in VAT, and particularly for road fuels and cigarettes.²⁶ There usually is, however, also underreporting of this type of consumption items in the household survey (alcohol, cigarettes and others), pushing down the amount of VAT collected. As such, the exercise does not alter the tax rate to adjust for evasion as with VAT, and does not aim at identifying evasion at a broader level, given underreporting in the survey.

Social Spending: Education and Health

On **education**, the survey does not identify school enrollment, neither in public nor in private schools. However, alternate sources of data indicate that school enrollment is high²⁷ and that access to public education is widespread in Albania. For instance, 98 and 97 percent of students in basic education and secondary, respectively, attend public schools. Most tertiary school students also attend public universities.²⁸ To identify beneficiaries of public spending on education, the method identifies age ranges by education system levels. Across education levels up to secondary, the strategy assumes universal coverage except for households who report education expenses on private education.²⁹ For those in tertiary and also excluding those who report expenses on private education, tertiary enrollment is assigned to those who are identified as students in the labor market module of the household survey and older than eighteen. Robustness checks compare the number of students in each level of the education system with administrative data of number of students enrolled in the public education system; results show that survey information is relatively close to that in administrative records.³⁰

Once we identified potential beneficiaries, we impute education spending among those identified as beneficiaries, the method uses both central government per capita spending, as well as prefecture-level per

²⁶ IMF (2016).

²⁷ For example, data from World Development Indicators show that the net enrollment rate in primary education is 96 percent and 85 percent for secondary school (2014).

²⁸ Data from the Living Standard Measurement Survey, 2012.

²⁹ In the HBS we have information on household education expenditures in the last month, by type (preschool, elementary, vocational, university, postgraduate), and by public/private.

³⁰ For instance, we identify about 113,000 students in high-school using this method, compared to 125,000 in administrative data. For university students, we estimate 127,000 students in the survey vs. 136,419 in admin data.

capita spending on education, by level of education. To avoid overestimating the redistributive impact of education (and health, as per below) spending –given that the per capita spending assigned comes from national accounts data while this is not the case for other components of the fiscal system in the model–, the value of per capita spending is scaled-down.³¹

On **health**, we allocate in-kind health benefits by identifying individuals who may be using the different types of health services and impute the (scaled down) value received from public health services.³² The scaled-down value of prefecture-level per capita in-patient and out-patient health spending, obtained from fiscal data, plus a distributionally-neutral element (as the difference between the national account value and in/out-patient costs, representing the spending by beneficiary on administrative costs, recurrent spending, and health system investments) is assigned to eligible individuals in the household survey, using explicit beneficiary criteria. Beneficiaries include those contributing to health insurance, as well as categories identified as subsidized beneficiaries.³³ In total, 2.03 million persons in Albania are identified in the survey as beneficiaries of in-kind health benefits (out of 2.89 million in the population in the 2015 HBS). Public dental care and health care in schools are excluded in the analysis because they are seldom used by the public and not covered by the health insurance scheme. For the scaling down of public health benefits, we use the same criteria we use to scale down education benefits.

Notice that this approach to impute in-kind transfers ("production cost approach") does not consider variance in the quality of services provided nor reflect different valuation of these services across the welfare distribution.

Model performance

The strength of the model and its assumptions are assessed by comparing the ratio of each fiscal element's total value to total private consumption in the survey, with the same ratio from national accounts. In other words, it is important to assess whether the relative size of the fiscal element in the economy is equal or close to the relative value of that element represented by the HBS. These checks are presented in Table A1, alongside results comparing how much of each element is captured by the survey (the share of the total amount in the survey to the revenue/transfer in the national accounts).

These checks show that across elements, and particularly the ones with larger weight in the fiscal system, the model performs relatively well. Moreover, the results are balanced between taxes and transfers, with the model capturing 64.2 percent of the value of those taxes in national accounts, and 64.8 percent of the value of included transfers.

³¹ The spending is scaled down so that the ratio of total education (and health) spending to total consumption from national accounts equals the ratio of social spending to consumption in the survey (Chapter 6, Higgins and Lustig, 2017).

³² We have a variable in the HBS capturing household health expenditures in the last 3 months (by public/private), but we decided not to use it to identify individuals who are actually using health services due to the short reference period.

³³ According to the law on Compulsory Health in the Republic of Albania", compulsory health insurance contributions and payments shall be obligatory to all economically active persons with permanent residence in Albania, including employees, selfemployees, unpaid family members, and other economically active persons. Compulsory health insurance covers, also, the following categories of economically inactive persons: persons benefiting from the Social Insurance Institute, persons receiving social assistance or disability payments, in accordance with relevant legislation, persons registered as unemployed jobseekers in the National Employment Service, foreign asylum seekers in the Republic of Albania, children below the age of 18, pupils and students below the age of 25 (provided they do not have income from economic activities), and other categories defined by specific laws.

V. Results: Distributional Impact of the Net Fiscal System in Albania

The net fiscal system contributes to reducing inequality in Albania. Before any fiscal intervention, the Gini coefficient stands at 0.37 and falls to 0.32 after the combined effect of taxes and contributions, and social spending. The largest reduction in inequality takes place from the effect of in-kind transfers (health and education). Direct taxes and transfers, and in-kind transfers (education and health) are equalizing. Indirect taxes (VAT and excises), in contrast, have an unequalizing effect but very small. Figure 3 shows the change in the Gini coefficient going from households' market income (which treats pensions as deferred income) to net market income (removing direct taxes and contributions), to disposable income (adding direct transfers to households), to consumable income (removing indirect taxes) and to final income (adding in-kind transfers). Box 1 considers an alternate scenario in which pensions are treated as government transfers instead of deferred income; nevertheless, given that pension system is currently primarily contributory, this scenario is not elaborated further.







Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

Source: Own estimates for Albania using the Albania HBS 2015. For other countries, see the Commitment to Equity Institute Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution, 2017 (based on information from sources in the footnote)³⁴ and the references section of this paper.

³⁴ ARGENTINA (Rossignolo, 2018); ARMENIA (Younger and Khachatryan, 2017); BOLIVIA (Paz Arauco et al., 2014); BRAZIL (Higgins and Pereira, 2014); CHILE (Martinez-Aguilar et al., 2018); COLOMBIA (Melendez and Martinez, 2015); COSTA RICA (Sauma and Trejos, 2014); DOMINICAN REPUBLIC (Aristy-Escuder et al., 2018); ECUADOR (Llerena et al., 2015); EL SALVADOR (Beneke, Lustig, and Oliva, 2018); ETHIOPIA (Hill et al., 2017); GEORGIA (Cancho and Bondarenko, 2017);

The reduction in inequality is comparable to that of other countries. The 0.052 Gini points reduction is in line with results from other countries in the region such as the Russian Federation (0.063), but lower than countries like Croatia (0.092) and Poland (0.13) (Figure 4).³⁵ The impact is broadly in line with the size of the government in Albania from a cross-country perspective (Figure A2.3), although with similar-sized governments, countries like Chile, Uruguay and Mexico achieve a larger redistributive effect.

On the poverty side, however, the fiscal system was moderately poverty increasing in 2015. Focusing on households' absolute level of income, and using international poverty lines employed across countries in the CEQ sample of \$2.5/day and \$4/day (2005 PPP), our findings show a different picture from what is found on the inequality side. Starting from 7.5 percent of households in poverty at \$2.5/day with pre-fiscal income, poverty increases slightly to 8.1 percent after the combined effects of direct and indirect taxes, contributions and direct transfers (Figure 5 and 6). This increase is higher with the \$4/day poverty line, going from 22.6 percent to 29.1 percent. Taxes and contributions, and particularly indirect taxes, play an important role in this poverty-increasing effect. In fact, the reduction achieved with direct transfers, which contribute to reducing poverty (as reflected by the change from net market income to disposable income) is more than offset by indirect taxes that households face. In a similar way, those already poor are made poorer (fiscal impoverishment) as a result of indirect taxes. The poverty gap is reduced when direct transfers are incorporated, but the effect is reversed when incorporating indirect taxes. Poverty severity also rises once indirect taxes are taken into account (See Figures 22-25 in Annex 5). Following the literature and examples from other countries, the poverty effect of in-kind transfers is not computed, given that households do not observe the monetary value of health and education spending.









Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

GHANA (Younger et al., 2017); GUATEMALA (Icefi, 2017a); HONDURAS (Icefi, 2017b); INDONESIA (Jellema, Wai-Poi, and Afkar, 2017); ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF IRAN (Enami, Lustig, and Taqdiri, 2017); JORDAN (Alam, Inchauste, and Serajuddin, 2017); MEXICO (Scott, 2014); NICARAGUA (Icefi, 2017c); PARAGUAY (Galeano et al., 2017); PERU (Jaramillo, 2014); RUSSIAN FEDERATION (Lopez-Calva et al., 2017); SOUTH AFRICA (Inchauste et al., 2017); SRI LANKA (Arunatilake, Inchauste, and Lustig, 2017); TANZANIA (Younger, Myamba, and Mdadila, 2016); TUNISIA (Jouini et al., 2018); UGANDA (Jellema et al., 2018); UNITED STATES (Higgins et al., 2016); URUGUAY (Bucheli et al., 2014) and REPÚBLICA BOLIVARIANA DE VENEZUELA (Molina, 2016).

³⁵ For Poland, see Goraus and Inchauste (2016). For Croatia, see Inchauste and Rubil (2017). For Montenegro, see Younger and Draganic (2017).

The poverty effect shows a mixed picture across countries. In countries like Chile, Mexico, Russia and Colombia the fiscal system results in a reduction in income poverty. This does not mean that no poor person becomes poorer but that the number of people who move out of poverty is higher than those who become poor. In other countries, including Albania and Croatia, the number of people leaving poverty is smaller than those who become poor due to the burden of taxes. In other words, poverty increases from the combined effect of taxes, contributions and direct transfers. At the \$4/day line, Albania stands out as one of the countries with the highest increase in poverty (Figures 7 and 8). Using different poverty lines, analysis from other countries in Europe, such as Croatia, Montenegro and Poland, also show sharp increases in poverty (at 70 percent, 62 percent and 51 percent, respectively, compared to Albania at 29 percent).



Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015. See references section for other countries.

Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015. See references section for other countries.

Box 1. An Alternate Scenario: Pensions as Government Transfers

Depending on the pension system prevalent in a country, pensions can be treated as deferred income or government transfers. The former is the case for contributory pension systems, in which people save throughout their lifetime and obtain benefits (savings) in old age. The latter is for pension systems that provide benefits as transfers from the overall government budget. Many pension systems are not in either extreme, rather they appear to be a combination of a deferred income portion and a subsidized portion.

The CEQ methodology can capture both scenarios. If deferred income, pension income is included in market income, and the income concept is thus labeled market income plus pensions. If transfers, pension income is added to net market income to get to disposable income, alongside other components; and pension contributions are considered a tax.

Our benchmark analysis focuses on the scenario of pensions as deferred income. Nevertheless, as robustness check, we also compare the difference in results between the different scenarios. Figure B1 and B2 show that excluding pensions from market income in the pure transfer scenario leads to a higher prefiscal inequality and poverty, highlighting the important role of pensions for households and their large size compared to other sources of market income. Not surprisingly, inequality and poverty drop sharply from net market income to disposable income, as pensions benefits (as direct transfers) are added. Interestingly, the poverty-increasing effect of the full fiscal system is not present in the scenario of pensions as transfers. In this case, poverty declines from 23 to 8 percent (\$2.5/day, 2005PPP), compared to 7.5 to 8.1 percent in the case of pensions as pure deferred income.

Figure B2. Poverty headcount (\$2.5/day) by income





VI. **Incidence, Progressivity and Marginal Contributions of Taxes** and Social Spending

How each of the fiscal interventions contribute to the observed changes in poverty and inequality? One way to answer this question is by examining the extent to which taxes and transfers affect household income across the welfare distribution. Another way is by looking at the marginal effect³⁶ of each fiscal component on the Gini coefficient and the poverty headcount. Intuitively, a tax or transfer has a sizable poverty and distributional impact if it is strongly targeted to those at the bottom of the distribution (as

³⁶ The marginal effect is the change in market income plus pensions due to adding or subtracting only the given benefit or tax from market income plus pensions.

captured by the concentration coefficients), and if it is large relative to their incomes (as captured by the size).

Zooming in to the elements of the fiscal system across the income distribution allows to better understand the distributional effects. Figure 9 shows the share of broad categories of taxes and transfers in pre-fiscal income (market income plus pensions), by decile. The shares for the bottom first decile are very large because the denominators (pre-fiscal incomes) in this decile are small. This decile of the distribution is a net receiver of social benefits, as shown by the positive net cash position.³⁷ Once in-kind health and education benefits are included, though, the net benefit for this decile is very large, increasing real incomes by about 40 percent. Contrarily, starting at the second decile, households in Albania are net payers into the fiscal system. Direct transfers represent a non-sizable share of household income outside the first two deciles, reflecting a weak targeting. In-kind health and education benefits are sizable for most deciles, declining gradually as we move along the income distribution. Direct taxes and contributions also represent a much smaller share of income in the bottom deciles, reaching 21 percent in the richest decile. The composition of taxes gradually changes from indirect to direct taxes as we move upward in the income distribution.













In the next subsection, we take a closer look at the effect of specific fiscal elements summarized in Table 3. The analysis relies on the previously defined concepts of progressivity (Kakwani index) and marginal

³⁷ The net cash position captures the difference between market income plus pensions and consumable income (equivalent to all payments of taxes and cash benefits), as a share of market income plus pensions.

contributions to inequality (redistributive effect), and poverty (poverty reducing effect). The effect will also depend on the size of each fiscal intervention (Figure 10) with respect to households' income.

Taxes and Contributions

Direct taxes and contributions in Albania are progressive with modest equalizing effects. The Kakwani index of progressivity is positive (indicating progressivity) and highest for the Personal Income Tax (PIT) (0.202), and positive but lower for health and social insurance³⁸ contributions (Figure 11). With the exception of the PIT, the distributional impact is small, mostly due to the small size. Overall direct taxes and contributions result in a modest redistributive effect of 0.093 Gini points (Figure 12). Annex 3 provides a cross-country benchmarking of the progressivity of direct taxes in Albania; it shows that although smaller than a large share of countries with available data, it is in line with that of other countries in Europe.





Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.





Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015. Note: A positive value means that the contribution is in the desired direction (e.g., equalizing or poverty reducing) and a negative value is the contrary. The marginal contributions of the redistributive effect are estimated from market income plus pensions to final income; for poverty reduction effect, from market income plus pensions to consumable income (as per the literature).

The poverty increasing effect of direct taxes and contributions is small but not trivial (Table 3). Poverty increases by 0.23 percentage points under the \$2.5/day poverty line. The effect is larger for the \$4/day line, with a marginal contribution to poverty from PIT of 0.87 percentage points and 0.91 for social and health insurance contributions (Figure 12), raising the poverty rate by 1.48 percentage points when combined. This is reflected in the overall picture of poverty changes across income concepts, in which poverty increased by this amount when moving from market income (including pensions) to net market income. The impact on poverty of direct taxes is linked to the relatively low thresholds for paying each of

³⁸ Social insurance contributions include sickness, maternity, pension, accident and unemployment insurance.

the brackets of the PIT: if at least one member of the household earns more than \$1.06/day (2005 PPP) in the formal sector (either wage or self-employed) that member pays a PIT of 13 percent. The threshold for paying a 23 percent PIT tax rate for the waged employed is \$4.58/day (2005 PPP). Similarly, a person earning more than \$0.80/day pays social and health insurance. As a result, around 9 percent of the population in Albania were impoverished (became poor or fell deeper into poverty at \$4/day) after paying direct taxes and contributions, i.e. when moving from market income (plus pensions) to net market income (1.8 percent were impoverished at the \$2.5/day poverty line).

Indirect taxes, on the other hand, are regressive and slightly unequalizing, and they result in sizable poverty increases. This effect is largely led by the VAT, given its larger size as a fiscal intervention. Specifically, the VAT has a negative Kakwani (Figure 13), and while its effects on increasing inequality are small (0.13 Gini points), it has a marginal contribution to poverty of 2.9 and 6.8 percent, with the \$2.5/day and \$4/day poverty lines, respectively (Figure 14). In other words, the VAT pushed a share of households into poverty to an extent that direct transfers were not able to offset. Excises, although progressive, also have a negative impact on poverty. Around 29 percent of households were fiscally impoverished when moving from disposable to consumable income (i.e. after paying indirect taxes) at the \$4/day poverty line (8 percent at the \$2.5/day line). Compared to other countries in the region (see Annex 3) such as Armenia, Croatia, Georgia and Russia, indirect taxes were less regressive in Albania.



Figure 13. Progressivity of Indirect Taxes in Figure 14. Marginal Contributions of Indirect Taxes Albania (Kakwani Index) in Albania

Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

Table 3. Progressivity and Marginal Contributions of Albania's Fiscal System in 2015

	Size			Redistributive	Poverty R	eduction Effect ⁵
	(wrt to Original Income)	Concentration Coefficient	Kakwani Coefficient	Marginal Contribution – Gini	Marginal Contribution (\$2.5 PPP)	Marginal Contribution (\$ 4 PPP)
Disposable Income	0.9714					
Contributory old-age pension	0.1106	0.1490	0.2203	0.0510	0.0942	0.1067
Disability Pension	0.0159	-0.2892	0.6585	0.0079	0.0119	0.0149
Survivor Pension	0.0018	-0.3361	0.7054	0.0010	0.0023	0.0007
Unemployment Benefit	0.0007	-0.3659	0.7352	0.0005	0.0018	0.0002
Social care services elderly/disabled	0.0018	-0.4351	0.8044	0.0011	0.0009	0.0031
Ndihma Ekonomike	0.0055	-0.4704	0.8397	0.0043	0.0083	0.0072
Energy transfers	0.0042	-0.0143	0.3836	0.0012	0.0045	0.0035
All direct transfers excl contributory pensions	0.0299	-0.2972	0.6665	0.0167	0.0292	0.0277
All direct transfers incl contributory pensions	0.1405	0.0540	0.3153	0.0715	0.1228	0.1355
PIT	-0.0358	0.5718	0.2024	0.0072	-0.0010	-0.0087
Social Insurance	-0.0085	0.4714	0.1021	0.0009	-0.0006	-0.0044
Health Insurance	-0.0129	0.4638	0.0945	0.0012	-0.0009	-0.0055
All direct taxes	-0.0358	0.5718	0.2024	0.0072	-0.0010	-0.0087
All contributions	-0.0215	0.4668	0.0975	0.0021	-0.0010	-0.0091
All direct taxes and contributions	-0.0573	0.5324	0.1631	0.0093	-0.0023	-0.0148
Consumable Income	0.8412					
Contributory old-age pension	0.1106	0.1490	0.2203	0.0644	0.1096	0.1109
Disability Pension	0.0159	-0.2892	0.6585	0.0095	0.0156	0.0212
Survivor Pension	0.0018	-0.3361	0.7054	0.0012	0.0027	0.0021
Unemployment Benefit	0.0007	-0.3659	0.7352	0.0005	0.0020	0.0010
Social care services elderly/disabled	0.0018	-0.4351	0.8044	0.0013	0.0017	0.0032
Ndihma Ekonomike	0.0055	-0.4704	0.8397	0.0050	0.0162	0.0069
Energy transfers	0.0042	-0.0143	0.3836	0.0013	0.0019	0.0032
All direct transfers excl contributory pensions	0.0299	-0.2972	0.6665	0.0198	0.0428	0.0370
All direct transfers incl contributory pensions	0.1405	0.0540	0.3153	0.0898	0.1509	0.1460
PIT	-0.0358	0.5718	0.2024	0.0084	-0.0028	-0.0138
Social Insurance	-0.0085	0.4714	0.1021	0.0010	-0.0009	-0.0027
Health Insurance	-0.0129	0.4638	0.0945	0.0014	-0.0025	-0.0067
All direct taxes	-0.0358	0.5718	0.2024	0.0084	-0.0028	-0.0138
All contributions	-0.0215	0.4668	0.0975	0.0024	-0.0058	-0.0103
All direct taxes and contributions	-0.0573	0.5324	0.1631	0.0108	-0.0081	-0.0245
VAT	-0.1100	0.3296	-0.0397	-0.0013	-0.0287	-0.0672
Excises	-0.0202	0.4103	0.0410	0.0013	-0.0026	-0.0093
All indirect taxes	-0.1302	0.3421	-0.0272	-0.0001	-0.0322	-0.0789
All taxes	-0.1660	0.3917	0.0224	0.0071	-0.0332	-0.0876
All taxes and contributions	-0.1875	0.4003	0.0310	0.0092	-0.0345	-0.0937
Final Income	0.9107					
All Direct taxes	-0.0358	0.5718	0.2024	0.0090		
All Direct transfers excl contributory pensions	0.0299	-0.2972	0.6665	0.0172		
All Indirect taxes	-0.1302	0.3421	-0.0272	0.0032		
Health spending	0.0347	0.0107	0.3586	0.0115		
Preschool/Basic education	0.0246	-0.1512	0.5205	0.0127		
Secondary Education	0.0064	0.0304	0.3389	0.0019		
Tertiary Education	0.0040	0.0954	0.2739	0.0010		
All net in-kind transfers	0.0697	-0.0398	0.4091	0.0285		

Direct and In-Kind Transfers

Direct transfers are all progressive in Albania and, to different extents, have positive redistributive and poverty-reducing effects (Figure 15 and 16). Looking at the set of transfers in Albania, with Ndihma Ekonomique (NE) and Disability Pensions as the relatively larger programs,³⁹ the positive Kakwani index shows progressivity across all, with NE as the most progressive program. They are also pro-poor,⁴⁰ as reflected in a negative concentration coefficient (Table 3), meaning that in absolute terms they are concentrated among the less well-off (Figure 17). For example, around 53 percent of the NE benefits in 2015 go to the bottom quintile, and 75 percent go to the bottom 40 percent of the distribution. Leakage seems to be low, given that the households in the top quintile receive only 4 percent of the benefits. This reflects a pro-poor design, currently being improved through piloting of a proxy means testing in certain regions. Nevertheless, while most programs have positive but small impact given their size with respect to households' market income, NE and Disability contribute to reducing poverty the most by 0.8 and 1.2 percentage points (\$2.5/day poverty line), respectively. Disability has larger poverty-impact despite not being a poverty-targeted benefit, which is driven by the larger amount spent: around three times the amount of NE.

Energy transfers in the other hand are not well targeted and represent a relatively small share of household budgets (low size), resulting in a marginal poverty and distributional impact. Unemployment benefits have a very low redistributive and poverty-reducing effect, mostly due to its small size (Figure 10), despite the fact that nearly 40 percent of the benefits go to the bottom quintile.









Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

Figure 17. Concentration of social spending and transfers (by market income plus pensions, by quintiles)

Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

³⁹ Disability pension includes here both disability assistance and contributory disability pension.

⁴⁰ A transfer is "pro-poor" if the proportion received in absolute terms decreases as income rises (globally progressive in absolute terms).



Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

Spending on education is progressive and equalizing, although quality and efficiency are not accounted for in the analysis. In particular, preschool and basic education are the most progressive education spending in Albania and also have the largest redistributive role, with a reduction in the Gini coefficient of 0.013 points (Figure 18 and 19). In fact, as found in other papers, the concentration coefficient of preschool/basic education is negative, suggesting that a larger spending share goes to the lower deciles, given that is disproportionately concentrated among the poor. Figure 17 above shows that overall education spending reaches people across the income distribution relatively equally, capturing the widespread use of public education services in Albania. As mentioned, these results do not capture heterogeneity in quality of services. The PISA results for 2015 show, for example, that a large share of 15-year-olds in Albania are considered functionally illiterate (50 percent with a score below 2 in reading), one of the highest among countries who take the test.⁴¹ Moreover, within Albania there is a gap in PISA scores between urban and rural areas equivalent to, in some subjects, more than one year of schooling.

Similarly, health spending is progressive and equalizing. Health spending is more or less distributed across the population in absolute terms: About 20 percent of health spending goes to those at the bottom quintile of the distribution, while 15 percent is concentrated among the top (Figure 17). These differences may reflect high-income households opting out of the public system, Health spending contributes to reducing inequality by around one Gini point as it is slightly more concentrated among those at the bottom of the distribution, and its size is not insignificant.

⁴¹ World Bank (2016).





Figure 19. Marginal Contribution of In-Kind Transfers in Albania (Only Redistributive Effects)



Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.



VII. Additional Applications for Policy Making

Beyond providing a static view of the distributional impact of the fiscal system, the model allows for policy simulations. This section presents a policy-relevant scenario of a reduction in the top bracket of the Personal Income Tax (PIT), from 23 percent to 18 percent, as noted in the Government of Albania's 4-year program objectives (announced in 2017).

Importantly, as with the majority of household surveys around the world, individuals with top incomes in Albania are not fully captured in the HBS. Therefore, the full extent of the policy impact cannot be evaluated, and results can be interpreted as a lower bound.⁴² Analyses from other countries are exploring the use of alternative data sets, such as credit data in Indonesia,⁴³ to complement the household survey and capture the top of the income distribution.

The reduction in PIT, as measured in this paper, has a very small (simulated) impact on inequality. The impact of the reduction in PIT on poverty and inequality across the different income concepts is shown in Table 4. As expected, the simulated PIT reduction is inequality-increasing, but the effect is very small, as shown by very small increases in the Gini index (measured using disposable, net, consumable and final).

⁴² Since the PIT is a progressive instrument, in the case of no-underreporting of labor incomes at the top, a rising PIT would have a disproportionately larger impact on richer households.

⁴³ Ongoing work in Indonesia, as referenced in World Bank (2015) and World Bank (2018), is using the Central Bank's

consumer credit database on mortgages, vehicle loans and others, to estimate top income households and combined, this with the household survey data to get a more complete distribution.

The poverty headcount is reduced slightly,⁴⁴ but the simulated impact is very small. The results are robust to the choice of the poverty line.

		Market Income + Pensions	Gross Income (2)=(1)+ Direct	Net Market Income	Disposable Income	Consumab le Income	Final Income
		(1)	Transfer s	(3)= (1)- Direct Taxes	(4)=(3)+Dire ct Transfers	Indirect Taxes	(6)=(5)+In- kind transfers
Gini							
2	2015 Baseline	0.3693	0.3545	0.3602	0.3452	0.3453	0.3170
	Simulation	0.3693	0.3545	0.3605	0.3455	0.3457	0.3175
Poverty (2.5 US\$ per day))						
2	2015 Baseline	7.5150	4.6310	7.8221	4.8986	8.1217	3.5050
	Simulation	7.5150	4.6310	7.8221	4.8626	8.0773	3.4672
Poverty (4.0 US\$ per day))						
2	2015 Baseline	22.5838	19.7411	24.0637	21.2895	29.1802	20.4315
	Simulation	22.5838	19.7411	24.0637	21.2335	29.1028	20.3592

Table 4. Simulated Impact of PIT reduction on poverty and Inequality

Top Bracket of PIT decreased from 23 to 18 percent

Note: Own estimates based on 2015 HBS.

Simulation results show that such a PIT reform would reduce the redistributive effect of the tax, but the extent of the change cannot be observed using household survey data solely, as it does not include top incomes. Simulations show that the PIT becomes less progressive, captured in a slightly lower but still positive Kakwani index (Figure 20), and would have a smaller redistributive effect (Figure 21). Not surprisingly, there is no difference in the poverty effect, as the change takes place in the top bracket of the direct tax. However, given lack of data on top incomes, the extent of the change cannot be fully explored. As previously mentioned, this observed effect is a lower bound and it would be expected that if top incomes were considered, the reduction in progressivity would be higher and the redistributive effect smaller.

Figure 20. Simulation: Progressivity of Direct TaxesFigureand Contributions in Albania (Kakwani Index)inequilibrium

Figure 21. Marginal Contribution to poverty and inequality of current vs simulated PIT

⁴⁴ This poverty-reduction effect from reducing the top bracket of the PIT comes from the fact that the income thresholds for paying PIT in Albania are relatively low. For instance, 19.8 percent of the individuals living in poor households (\$1.25-\$2.5, thus excluding the extreme poor) were paying PIT in 2015.





Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

The CEQ model for Albania could be useful for additional policy simulations. To the extent that the policy change refers to the elements incorporated in the analysis, further exploration could be carried out.

VIII. Conclusions and Policy Insights

Distributional analysis provides an important tool for governments, particularly in reform processes. It can contribute to understanding the household-level impact of fiscal policy, and how it can enhance the equity lens of its policy interventions or mitigate the effect when needed. This type of analysis provides one relevant perspective to fiscal system reforms, which should be accompanied by other considerations such as fiscal impact, and efficiency of revenue collection and spending.

This paper shows that the fiscal system in Albania plays a positive role in reducing inequality, while it has a slight poverty-increasing effect. This effect is observed in other countries in the region, although with different magnitudes. Direct and indirect taxes and social contributions have a role in reducing inequality, but they also have a poverty-increasing effect largely driven by the VAT. Direct transfers, with programs such as the Ndihma Ekonomike that are pro-poor and equalizing, partly offset this effect. Beyond providing a static picture of the fiscal system's impact, the tool allows for policy simulations. For instance, simulations around PIT reforms show that a reduction in the top bracket is expected to reduce the redistributive effect with no impact on poverty. Importantly, it must be noted that the poverty-increasing effect may be tempered by accounting for the positive welfare impact of public education and health services.

The analysis provides inputs to a policy discussion on several fronts. On the spending side, there is an important policy agenda to improve the coverage and targeting of direct transfers. Progress is being made in this area. For example, an improved design of the Ndihma Ekonomike, with a proxy means test formula to improve targeting, was piloted in three regions over the past years and is being implemented nationwide. With the poverty-targeting accuracy of Ndihma Ekonomike having improved since the implementation of the pilot and given that it is expected to continue improving as the new eligibility rule of the program reaches other areas of the country, the poverty-reducing effect of this program – already captured as the most progressive transfer in Albania – is likely to be higher, thus mitigating the current net effect of the fiscal system. Similarly, a pilot reform of the disability benefit is ongoing with the objective of revising the eligibility criteria to improve targeting towards the truly disabled and efficiency of the program. An important agenda also remains in terms of improving the efficiency of spending in health and education, for better and more consistent quality of service delivery across regions in Albania.

On the taxation side, there is an important and ongoing government agenda in Albania around improving tax administration and compliance. As weaknesses in these systems and processes are addressed to reduce informality in payment of taxes, it is important to understand the potential distributional impact of these measures to, if needed, mitigate it through complementary reforms. Considerations over adjusting the level or design of specific taxes should be accompanied by analysis of fiscal impact and efficiency.

This analysis has clear implications for a data and knowledge agenda in Albania. On the data side, improvements can be made for a more systematic and disaggregated collection of quality administrative data at the local and national levels. On the household survey side, similarly, the design of data collection instruments and samples could be revisited to improve the alignment with the social protection system, for a better understanding of the role of the fiscal system for households' living standards. Finally, a difficult

data agenda is pending to better capture top incomes in Albania. In other countries, this has been done using administrative tax records or banking data. It is important to explore which source of information could shed light on this issue for the case of Albania.

Systematically including this lens into policy making calls, therefore, for investments in building and strengthening the institutional setup to assess and monitor distributional impacts.

IX. References

Albanian General Directorate of Customs. 2015. *Legjislacioni Tatimor, 2015, LIGJ NR. 92/2014 Për Tatimin mbi Vlerën e Shtuar në RSH.* URL: <u>https://www.tatime.gov.al/eng/shkarko.php?id=295</u> date of access 23 October 2017.

Albanian Ministry of Education and Sports. 2016. Statistical Yearbook of Education, Tiranë, MAS.

Fortuzi, Shkelqim, Doda, Sanie. 2015 "Fiscal policy in Albania", *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management*. Vol. III, Issue 6.

General Directorate of Customs. 2015 "Kodi Doganor i Republikës së Shqipërisë", URL: <u>http://www.dogana.gov.al/dokument/1179/ligj-nr-102-2014-date-3172014-i-ndryshuar</u>, date of access 23 October 2017.

Higgins, Sean, and Nora Lustig. 2016. "Can a Poverty-Reducing and Progressive Tax and Transfer System Hurt the Poor?" Journal of Development Economics 122: 63-75.

Llollari, Orkida, and Kripa, Ermela. 2016. "Progressive Tax Vs Flat Tax and Its Effects on the Foreign Direct Investments in Albania". *Academic Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*. doi:10.5901/ajis.2016.v5n3p79.

Lustig, Nora and Sean Higgins. 2017. "Allocating Taxes and Transfers and Constructing Income Concepts", chapter 6 in Commitment to Equity Handbook. *Estimating the Impact of Fiscal Policy on Inequality and Poverty*, edited by Nora Lustig (Brookings Institution Press and CEQ Institute, Tulane University). Advance online version available at:

http://www.commitmentoequity.org/publications/handbook.php.

_____, Ali Enami and Rodrigo Aranda. 2017. The Analytics of Fiscal Redistribution. Chapter in Lustig, Nora and Sean Higgins, editors, Commitment to Equity Handbook: Estimating the Redistributive Impact and Pro-poorness of Fiscal Policy.

Mançellari, Armela. 2011. "Macroeconomic effects of fiscal policy in Albania: A SVAR approach". *Bank* of Albania Working Papers. 05(28).

Mara, Isilda and Edlira Narazani. 2011. "The Effects of Flat Tax on Inequality and Informal Employment: The Case of Albania". *The wiiw Balkan Observatory* Working papers 094.

Merko, Flora, Ermira Kalaj and Alma Zisi. 2017. "Estimating the effects of fiscal policy on the private abstract consumption: Evidence from Albania". *13th International Conference of ASECU Social and Economic Challenges in Europe 2016-2020.* organized by University "Aleksandër Moisiu" Durrës, Albania, 19-20 May 2017.

Milova, Olta and Arjeta Vokshi – Abazi. 2014. "Empirical Evidence of Fiscal Policy Impact on Endogenous Models of Economic Growth - the Case of Albania". *Journal of Knowledge Management, Economics and Information Technology*, Vol. 4, Issue 1, pp. 1-13.

Patonov, Nikolay. 2016. "Fiscal Impacts on Output in a Small Open Economy: The Case of Albania". *Scientific Annals of Economics and Business*. Vol. 63, Issue 2, pp. 161-169. Retrieved 11 Nov. 2017. doi:10.1515/saeb-2016-0113.

Rajemison, H., S. Haggblade and S. Younger, 2003, "Indirect Tax Incidence in Madagascar: Updated Estimates Using the Input-Output Table" (Ithaca, New York: Cornell Food and Nutrition Policy Program).

Shijaku, Gerti and Gjokuta, Arlind. 2013. "Fiscal Policy and Economic Growth: The case of Albania", *Bank of Albania* Working Papers. 04 (63), pp. 1-32.

Souza, Pedro H. G. F., Rafael G. Osorio, and Sergei Soares. 2011. "Uma Metodologia para Simular o Programa Bolsa Familia." *Insituto de Pesquisa Econômica Aplicada* Working Paper, Brasília.

State Social Service (2016) "Raport 2015", URL: <u>http://www.sherbimisocial.gov.al/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/Raporti-Shssh-2015.pdf</u>, date of access 23 October 2017.

Trebicka, Brunela. 2015. "Does Fiscal Policy Matters for Economic Growth? Empirical Study of Albanian Situation". *Interdisciplinary Journal of Research and Development*. Vol. 2, Issue 2.

World Bank. 2016. Ten Messages About Youth Employment in South East Europe". Regular Economic Report for South East Europe, Special Topic 9S. World Bank, Washington DC.

World Bank. 2015. Indonesia's Rising Divide: Why Inequality Is Rising, Why It Matters and What Can Be Done. World Bank, Washington DC.

World Bank (2018) Riding the Wave. World Bank, Washington DC.

Country studies:

Argentina: Rossignolo, Dario. 2017. "CEQ Master Workbook: Argentina. Version: May 19, 2017," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Armenia: Younger, Stephen D. and Artsvi Khachatryan. 2014. "CEQ Master Workbook: Armenia. Version: May 31, 2014," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and the World Bank).

Bolivia: Paz Arauco, Veronica, George Gray-Molina, Wilson Jimenez and Ernesto Yañez. 2014. "CEQ Master Workbook: Bolivia. Version: September 22, 2014," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Brazil: Higgins, Sean and Claudiney Pereira. 2017. "CEQ Master Workbook: Brazil. Version: April 19, 2017," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Chile: Martinez-Aguilar, Sandra and Eduardo Ortiz-Juarez. 2016. "CEQ Master Workbook: Chile. Version: October 7, 2016," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and the World Bank).

Colombia: Melendez, Marcela and Valentina Martinez. 2015. "CEQ Master Workbook: Colombia. Version: December 17, 2015," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and Inter-American Development Bank).

Costa Rica: Sauma, Pablo and Juan D. Trejos. 2014. "CEQ Master Workbook: Costa Rica. Version: February 14, 2014," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Dominican Republic: Aristy-Escuder, Jaime, Maynor Cabrera, Blanca Moreno-Dodson and Miguel Sanchez-Martin. 2016. "CEQ Master Workbook: Dominican Republic. Version: August 4, 2016," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and the World Bank).

Ecuador: Llerena Pinto, Freddy Paul, Maria Cristhina Llerena Pinto, Roberto Carlos Saa Daza and Maria Andrea Llerena Pinto. 2017. "CEQ Master Workbook: Ecuador. Version: January 5, 2017," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

El Salvador: Beneke, Margarita, Nora Lustig and Jose Andres Oliva. 2014. "CEQ Master Workbook: El Salvador. Version: June 26, 2014," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and Inter-American Development Bank).

Ethiopia: Hill, Ruth, Eyasu Tsehaye and Tassew Woldehanna. 2014. "CEQ Master Workbook: Ethiopia. Version: September 28, 2014," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and the World Bank).

Georgia: Cancho, Cesar and Elena Bondarenko. 2015. "CEQ Master Workbook: Georgia. Version: December 31, 2015" CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and the World Bank).

Ghana: Younger, Stephen, Eric Osei-Assibey and Felix Oppong. 2016. "CEQ Master Workbook: Ghana, February 10, 2016," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Goraus, Karolina and Gabriela Inchauste. 2016. "The Distributional Impact of Taxes and Transfers in Poland", Policy Research Working Paper 7787, World Bank: Washington DC.

Guatemala: Cabrera, Maynor and Hilcias E. Moran. 2015. "CEQ Master Workbook: Guatemala. Version: May 6, 2015," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University, Instituto Centroamericano de Estudios Fiscales (ICEFI) and International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD)).

Honduras: Castaneda, Ricardo and Ilya Espino. 2015. "CEQ Master Workbook: Honduras. Version: August 18, 2015," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University, Instituto Centroamericano de Estudios Fiscales (Icefi) and International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD)).

Indonesia: Afkar, Rythia, Jon Jellema, and Matthew Wai-Poi. 2015. "CEQ Master Workbook: Indonesia. Version: February 26, 2015," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and the World Bank).

Inchauste, Gabriela and Ivica Rubil. 2017. "The Distributional Impact of Taxes and Social Spending in Croatia". Mimeo.

Iran: Enami, Ali, Nora Lustig and Alireza Taqdiri. 2017. "CEQ Master Workbook: Iran. Version: May 5, 2017," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and Economic Research Forum).

Jordan: Abdel-Halim, Morad, Shamma A. Alam, Yusuf Mansur, Umar Serajuddin and Paolo Verme. 2016. "CEQ Master Workbook: Jordan. Version: March 8, 2016," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and the World Bank).

Montenegro: Younger, Stephen and Dajana Draganic (2017). "Fiscal Incidence in Montenegro." World Bank: Washington DC.

Mexico: Scott, John. 2013. "CEQ Master Workbook: Mexico. Version: September 2, 2013," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Nicaragua: Cabrera, Maynor and Hilcias E. Moran. 2015. "CEQ Master Workbook: Nicaragua. Version: October 14, 2015," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University, Instituto Centroamericano de Estudios Fiscales (Icefi) and International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD).

Paraguay: Galeano, Juan Jose, Maria A. Lugo, Lea Gimenez, Carolina Paredes, Flavia Sacco, Miguel A. Vega and Fatima Franco. 2017. "CEQ Master Workbook: Paraguay. Version: 2017," CEQ Data Center (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Peru: Jaramillo, Miguel. 2015. "CEQ Master Workbook: Peru. Version: August 7, 2015," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Russia: Lopez-Calva Luis F., Nora Lustig, Mikhail Matytsin, and Daria Popova (2017). "Who Benefits From Fiscal Redistribution In The Russian Federation?" Working Paper 39, CEQ Institute, Tulane University.

South Africa: Inchauste, Gabriela, Nora Lustig, Mashekwa Maboshe, Catriona Purfield, Ingrid Woolard and Precious Zikhali. 2016. "CEQ Master Workbook: South Africa. Version: March 6, 2016," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and the World Bank).

Sri Lanka: Arunatilake, Nisha, Gabriela Inchauste and Nora Lustig. 2016. "CEQ Master Workbook: Sri Lanka. Version: March 10, 2016," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Tanzania: Younger, Stephen, Flora Myamba and Kenneth Mdadila. 2016. "CEQ Master Workbook: Tanzania. Version: June 1, 2016," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

Tunisia: Jouini, Nizar, Nora Lustig, Ahmed Moummi and Abebe Shimeles. 2015. "CEQ Master Workbook: Tunisia. Version: October 1, 2015," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and African Development Bank).

Uganda: Jellema, Jon, Astrid Haas, Nora Lustig and Sebastian Wolf. 2016. "CEQ Master Workbook: Uganda. Version: July 28, 2016," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University and International Growth Center).

Uruguay: Bucheli, Marisa, Nora Lustig, Maximo Rossi and Florencia Amabile. 2014. "CEQ Master Workbook: Uruguay. Version: August 18, 2014," CEQ Data Center on Fiscal Redistribution (CEQ Institute, Tulane University).

X. Annexes

Annex 1

Table A1. Robustness checks: Model Results using 2015 HBS and National Accounts

					Total
		Household		Total amount	amount
	National	Budget	Ratio total	national	HBS/HBS
	accounts (in	Survey (in	amount HBS	accounts/national	private
	millions, old	millions, old	/ national	accounts private	consumpti
Fiscal element	leks)	leks)	accounts	consumption	on
Total Household Consumption 2015	11,499,303	6,490,000	56%		
Direct taxes and contributions	, ,	.,,			
[Personal Income Tax, no evasion]	318,030				
Personal Income Tax (with evasion)	318,030	240,000	75.5%	2.8%	3.7%
Social insurance (excl pensions)		57,100			
Pension contributions		524,000			
Social insurance (incl pensions)	598,880	581,100	97.0%	5.2%	9.0%
Health insurance	92,010	86,400	93.9%	0.8%	1.3%
All contributions	690,890	667.500	96.6%	6.0%	10.3%
All direct taxes and contributions	1.008.920	907,500	89.9%	8.8%	14.0%
	1,000,020	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	0,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	0.070	1 110 / 0
Indirect taxes					
[VAT, no evasion]	1,312,030	997,000	76.0%	11.4%	15.4%
VAT (with evasion)	1,312,030	735,000	56.0%	11.4%	11.3%
Excise fuel (households, direct effects)	, ,	50,500			
Excise fuel (households, indirect effects)		6.050			
Excise fuel (households, total)	221,929	56,550	25.5%	1.9%	0.9%
Excise alcohol/coffee	28,682	27,650	96.4%	0.2%	0.4%
Excise cigarettes	131,193	50.800	38.7%	1.1%	0.8%
Excise other					
Total excises (no evasion)	449.000	135.000	30.1%	3.9%	2.1%
All indirect taxes	1.761.030	870.000	49.4%	15.3%	13.4%
	1,, 01,000	0,0,000			1011/0
All taxes and contributions	2,769,950	1,777,500	64.2%	24.1%	27.4%
Social protection spending					
Old Age Pension	860,710	739,000	85.9%	7.5%	11.4%
Disability pension	155,000	106,000	68.4%	1.3%	1.6%
Ndihma Ekonomike	44,473	37,000	83.2%	0.4%	0.6%
Energy transfers	31,500	28,400	90.2%	0.3%	0.4%
Social Benefits/Elderly Services	6,092	12,200	200.3%	0.1%	0.2%
Unemployment Benefit	8,000	4,450	55.6%	0.1%	0.1%
Family Pension	4,207	11,700	278.1%	0.0%	0.2%
Total social protection	1,310,000	910,400	69.5%	11.4%	14.0%
Social spending - Education and Health					
Education	403,988	234,000	57.9%	3.5%	3.6%
Health	409,841	232,000	56.6%	3.6%	3.6%
Total social spending	813,829	466,000	57.3%	7.1%	7.2%
Total spending	2,123,829	1,376,400	64.8%	18.5%	21.2%





Sources: Armenia (Younger et al, 2014), Brazil (Higgins and Pereira, 2014), El Salvador (Beneke et al, 2015), Ethiopia (Woldehanna et al, 2014), Georgia (Cancho and Bondarenko, 2015), Guatemala (Cabrera et al, 2014), Mexico (Scott, 2014), Peru (Jaramillo, 2014), Russia (Lopez Calva et al, 2015), Uruguay (Bucheli et al, 2014), and South Africa (Inchauste et al, 2015). Note: contributory pensions treated as part of market income.



Figure A2.3 Change in Gini (from market to final income) and size of Government (government expenditures/GDP)

Sources: Own estimates for Albania; for other countries see Figure 4. General government final consumption expenditure (% of GDP) from WDI.

Note: A negative value indicates a reduction in inequality. For Jordan, data on government expenditures using 2009 since data for 2010 is not available. For Ethiopia, data on government expenditure using 2011. Data for 2010 not available.

Annex 3. Additional details on the Taxes and Contributions included in the Albania CEQ

Personal Income Tax

A taxpayer of the income tax shall be a resident or non-resident person who generates income in the Republic of Albania from personal earnings, self-employment activity, property and property-based rights, capital, capital gains, banks or treasury bonds interests, rent, copyright and winnings from games of chance; Revenues exempt from the income:

- 1) Regulations on rights of disabled persons;
- 2) Child allowances and special assistance for supplies for newborn children;
- 3) Income received from insurance benefits from the social and health insurance scheme;
- 4) Economic benefits for individuals with no income or with low income;
- 5) Benefits received due to sickness, disasters;
- 6) Scholarships to pupils and students;
- 7) Income received, in cash or in kind, by the owners as a reward for expropriation made by the state for public interest;
- 8) Income exempted under international agreements ratified by the Parliament;
- 9) Income received as a result of financial compensation to former owners and former political prisoners;
- 10) Contributions of the employer for employee's life and health insurance;
- 11) Indemnity from final decisions of the court and specific compensation for court cost;
- 12) Income received from state institutions for achievements in science, sports, culture;
- 13) The transfer of the right of ownership over an agricultural land by a registered farmer to another farmer or a legal person who performs agricultural activity is exempt from personal income tax;
- 14) The contribution made by each member of a voluntary pension fund to the extent determined by the law on voluntary pension funds and contributions made by an employer or any other contributor on behalf of a member of the pension fund voluntary;
- 15) Return on investment, including investment income by the pension fund assets, during the administration of the management company.

The following persons are excluded from the income tax:

- 1) members of foreign diplomatic missions in Albania
- 2) members of consular representative offices
- 3) members of international organizations, who enjoy the status of a diplomat while performing their official functions in the Republic of Albania, in accordance with the international conventions or agreements signed or accepted by the Republic of Albania or the Albanian Government.

Tax base

- (1) A tax base for the income tax of a resident shall represent all the taxable income generated during the tax period minus deductions.
- (2) A tax base for the income tax of a non-resident shall represent the taxable income of the taxpayer generated during the tax period in the Republic of Albania.

Personal Income Tax for income from wages:

200)7	20)13	2014-onwards		
Monthly taxable income/base	PIT	Monthly taxable income/base	PIT	Monthly taxable income/base	PIT	
0 - 10 000	0 percent	0 - 10 000	0 percent	0-30 000	0 percent	
$\frac{10\ 001+30}{000}$	+ 10 percent of the amount over 10 000 ALL	> 30 001	10 percent of the amount over 0 ALL	30 001-130 000	+ 13 percent of the amount over 30 000 ALL	
> 30 001	10 percent of the amount over 0 ALL			>130 001	13 000 ALL + 23 percent of the amount over 130 000 ALL	

All other personal income, except wage, are subject to 15% tax rate.

Deductions:

Taxpayers, who are not subject to the declaration of personal income, but want to fill the personal income declaration, with annual gross income from all sources up to 1,050,000 (one million and fifty thousand) ALL per year (indexed annually) but no higher than this amount, may be subject to declaration. For purposes of calculating the taxable income for these individuals, deductions are as the follows:

- 1) The amount of interest from the bank loan taken for education, for his/herself or for children and persons in custody;
- 2) Medical expenses for themselves or for children and persons in custody for the uncovered part of the compulsory health insurance (8,532 ALL, but not more than 32,000 ALL).

Non-residents are not eligible for deductions of their taxable income.

Value Added Tax

The Value-Added Tax in Albania is levied at two different rates of 20% as standard rate, and 0% on special products⁴⁵ as displayed in the following table:

Goods and Services	VAT rate
Apartment and Land Renting	0%
Financial Products	0%
Central Bank activities	0%
Postal services	0%

⁴⁵<u>https://www.tatime.gov.al/sq-</u>

al/Legjislacioni/COUNCIL_DECISIONS/Legjislacioni%20Tatimor/Tatimi%20mbi%20Vleren%20e%20Shtuar/LIGJ%20nr.%20 7928.dat%C3%AB%2027.4.1995%2c%20P%C3%ABr%20Tatimin%20mbi%20Vler%C3%ABn%20e%20Shtuar%2c%20i%20n dryshuar.pdf

A summary of the changes of the tax laws for 2014, (in force as from January 1st, 2014 if not otherwise defined in the below provisions) Law No.9920.

Non-profit organizations	0%
Diplomats	0%
Hydrocarbons Operations	0%
Drugs and Health Services	0%
Books, Journals, Magazines Sales and Advertisement.	0%
Iron and Cement	0%
Raw Materials in Agriculture and Cattle Race	0%
Specific Imported Goods and Services (R&D on	
hydrocarbons, Armed Forces military products, Imported	0%
goods by NATO)	
Exports	0%
International transport of goods and services, passengers and	0%
goods and services supplies related to it.	070
Goods and services supply for commercial or industrial	0%
activities in the sea	070

Excise Tax

The Excise tax is a tax applied on manufactured and specific imported goods, which are to be consumed in the Republic of Albania. This tax is calculated based on the measurement unit and the excise tax rates. This tax shall be levied on goods such as:

- a) Energy products;
- b) Alcohol and alcoholic beverages;
- c) Tobacco and tobacco products;
- d) Other products determined by the Law.

Product	Excise
Coffee, whether or not roasted and/or decaffeinated	0 lek/kg
Roasted coffee, whether or not decaffeinated	60 ALL/kg
Coffee husks and skin	50 ALL/kg
Extracts, essences and concentrates of coffee	250 ALL/kg coffee
Energy drinks	30 lek/liter
Beer made of malt:	360 ALL/HL for degree alcohol
Still wine and grape must; Vermouth and other wine flavored	3 000-4 000ALL/ hL
Asti spumante, Champagne; Wines	5 200 ALL/ HL
Alcoholic beverages; obtained by distilling grape wine or grape	65 000 ALL per hL of anhydrous
marc, Whiskies, Rum.	alcohol
Raki	20000 ALL per hL of anhydrous
	alcohol
Cigars and cigarillos containing tobacco	2500 ALL/kg
Cigars containing tobacco	5500 ALL/1,000 items
	From January 2016 – 6000
	lek/1000 pcs
	From January 2017 – 6500
	lek/1000 pcs
Cigars, cigarillos and cigarettes containing tobacco substitutes	2 240 ALL/kg

Other manufactured tobacco and manufactured tobacco substitutes;	4 400 ALL/kg From January 2016 – 5 100 lek/kg From January 2017 – 5 800 lek/kg
Light oils (gasoline and benzene)	37 ALL /liter
Fireworks	200 ALL /kg
Primary cells and primary batteries	200 ALL /kg

Source: Ministry of Finance $(2016)^{46}$

Social Insurance Contribution

Employed persons and their employers shall be liable to pay social and health care insurance contribution. The contribution cannot be awarded under a minimum and over a maximum monthly wage. The employee's contribution is 9.5% while the employer pays 15.8%. Health insurance is levied at 1.7% for both employee and employer. The self-employed pay 23% for social security and 7% for health insurance. The types of insurance and the respective rates are presented in the following table.

No.	Type of contribution	Total	Employer	Employee	Employer Share	Employee Share
А	Total of Social Insurance Contribution	24.50	15.00	9.50	0.61	0.39
1	Sickness insurance contribution	0.30	0.18	0.12	0.61	0.39
2	Maternity insurance contribution	1.40	0.86	0.54	0.61	0.39
3	Pension insurance contribution	21.60	13.22	8.38	0.61	0.39
4	Accident insurance contribution	0.30	0.18	0.12	0.61	0.39
5	Unemployment insurance contribution	0.90	0.55	0.35	0.61	0.39
В	Health Care Insurance Contribution	3.40	1.70	1.70	0.50	0.50
	Total	27.90	16.70	11.20	0.60	0.40

Liability to contributions:

1. Compulsory social insurance and the payment of respective contributions are mandatory for all economically active persons with permanent residence in Albania, as for the persons employed with an

 ⁴⁶See
 Table
 on
 <u>http://www.tatime.gov.al/sq-</u>

 al/Legjislacioni/COUNCIL_DECISIONS/Legjislacioni%20Tatimor/Akcizat/Ligji%20nr.%208976%20dt.12.12%202002,P%C3
 %ABr%20akcizat%20n%C3%AB%20Republik%C3%ABn%20e%20Shqip%C3%ABris%C3%AB,%20i%20ndryshuar.pdf
 and

 http://www.financa.gov.al/files/userfiles/Legjislacioni/Update-of-Albanian-fiscal-laws-for-2014.pdf
 and

employer, performing part-time and intermittent work assignments, self-employed persons with the status of natural person who exercise senior functions/positions in society, unpaid family workers, natural persons, self-employed in commercial or service activities, ambulant, who have reached the age of 16, self-employed in agriculture, capable of working, who have reached the age of 16 until retirement age, foreign nationals and stateless persons, employed, employers or self-employed in entities registered for tax purposes in the Republic of Albania.

- 2. For unemployed persons, who receive unemployment benefits from the vesting date to the rest of the period, the contributions are paid by the state budget.
- 3. For persons under transitional payment or early retirement pension under the provisions of Law No. 10142, dated on 15.5.2009, "On the supplementary social insurance of servicemen of the Armed Forces, employees of the State Police, the Republican Guard, the State Information Service, the Prisons Police, The Firemen and the workers of the Internal Control Service of the Republic of Albania ", as amended, by Law No. 8097, dated on 21.3.1996, "On the supplementary state pensions of persons who have constitutional functions and of state employees", former employees who have worked in mines, underground, and former employees of military industry who benefit special financial treatment, caregivers to paraplegic and tetraplegic and women, who retire for the period of accomplishing the higher education, the contributions are paid by the state budget.

Income basis used to calculate contributions:

- 1) The basis for calculating the contribution is the gross salary of the insured person. It is the salary appointed under the legislation in force, or in the employment contract, as appropriate, by time or volume of work and other supplements, of a permanent character, arising from labor relations, which cannot be below the minimum salary of 22 000 ALL.
- The gross monthly salary, for the purpose of calculating social insurance contributions, from 01/01/2015 onwards, is:
 - a) not less than the monthly minimum wage, equivalent to 22 000 (twenty-two thousand) ALL and up to 97 030 (ninety-seven thousand and thirty) ALL, for employed persons and self-employed persons;
 - b) equal to the monthly minimum wage of 22 000 (twenty-two thousand) ALL for unpaid family workers.
 - c) the monthly salary, for calculation purposes of the contributions to the state budget, for the period under transitional payment or early retirement pension of persons who perform constitutional functions or as senior state employees and for former soldiers and workers of State Police, Information Service, Republican Guard, Prisons Police, Firemen and Internal Control Service employees, is equivalent to the reference salary, according to their rank and function, at the time of termination of the employment contract.
 - d) the monthly salary, for calculation purposes of the contributions of the state budget for persons who receive unemployment benefit, for former employees who have worked in mines, underground, and former employees of the military industry, benefiting special financial treatment, caregivers to paraplegic and tetraplegic and women who retire for the period of accomplishing the higher education, is equal to the minimum salary of 22 000 ALL.

Exclusions from the gross income for the purpose of calculating the social insurance and health care insurance are as following:

- 1) the benefits that the employee receives from social insurance funds;
- 2) the compensations from the price changes
- 3) in cash gifts, that do not have permanent and general characteristics;
- 4) the income from alimony (food allowance), determined by a court decision;
- 5) the value of antidotes, that the employer gives in kind to persons employed under the legislation in force;
- 6) the remunerations with non-permanent character, the rewards from the special fund for family disaster/distress, for persistent diseases, major natural disasters cases, and outstanding activities;
- 7) the amount of expenditures for employees who perform activities outside the residential center, which are given based on the legislation in force and that are not part of the salary;
- 8) the royalties or other similar compensation, which are not related to the current labor contract.

Contribution rates:

Category	Contribution Rates
Contributions for pension insurance, labor contract> 87 hours per month (employee) not less than the minimum wage and no more than the maximum salary	9.5%
Contributions for pension insurance, labor contract> 87 hours per month (employer) not less than the minimum wage and no more than the maximum salary	15%
Contributions for pension insurance, labor contract< 87 hours per month (employee) not less than the minimum wage and no more than the maximum salary	9.4%
Contributions for pension insurance, labor contract< 87 hours per month (employer) not less than the minimum wage and no more than the maximum salary	13.9%
Contributions for pension insurance, labor contract< 1 week per month (employer) not less than the minimum wage and no more than the maximum salary	0.3%
A self-employed individual, whose family members do not receive a salary, but work and live together with him/her legally, excluding the self-employed in agriculture, shall pay 23% of the minimum monthly wage of 22,000 ALL.	5 060 ALL
A Self-employed individual and the self-employed individual who employs other persons, excluding self-employed in agriculture, not less than minimum wage and no more than the maximum wage.	23%
A self-employed individual in commercial or service sector, ambulant vendors, maintenance workers, the employer shall declare and pay contributions	3 200 ALL
A self-employed individual in agriculture, excluding self-employed individuals residing in the districts of Bulqizë, Dibër, Gramsh, Has, Kolonjë, Kukës, Librazhd, Malësi e Madhe, Mat, Mirditë, Pukë, Skrapar, Tepelenë and Tropojë (amended in 2015)	38 400 ALL/ yearly (33 000 in 2014)
For the unemployed persons, who receive unemployment benefits, the state budget pays contributions on minimum wage.	23%

For former employees who have worked in underground mines and former employees of the military industry, benefiting special financial treatment, caregivers to paraplegic and tetraplegic and women who retire for the period of accomplishing the higher education, contributions on minimum wage are paid by the state budget.	21.6%
For persons having constitutional functions and senior employees of the state, ex-servicemen, employees of the State Police Intelligence Service, the Republican Guard, Police, Prisons, Police, Fire Protection and Control Service Interior employees during transitional payment or early retirement pension, contribution are paid by the state budget on the respective average salary, according to their rank and function, which is then indexed annually based on the coefficients applied on the assessed basis.	21.6%

Health Insurance Contribution

Liability to contributions:

- 1. Compulsory health insurance and the payment of respective contributions are mandatory for all economically active persons with permanent residence in Albania, as: for the persons employed with an employer, performing part-time and intermittent work assignments, self-employed persons with the status of natural person, owners of legal persons, who have senior functions in society, unpaid family workers, natural persons, self-employed in commercial or service activities, ambulant, who have reached the age of 16, self-employed in agriculture, capable of working, who have reached the age of 16 until retirement age, foreign nationals and stateless persons, employed, employers or self-employed in entities registered in the Republic of Albania.
- 2. The contributions payment for the persons benefiting from the Social Insurance Institute, persons receiving social assistance or disability benefits, in accordance with the relevant legislation, persons registered as unemployed jobseekers at the National Employment Service, asylum seekers in the Republic of Albania, children under the age of 18, pupils and students under the age of 25, provided they do not have income from economic activities financed from the state budget.

Income basis used to calculate contributions:

- 1. The basis for calculating the contribution is the gross salary of the insured person appointed under the legislation in force, or in the employment contract, as appropriate, by time or volume of work and other supplements, of permanent character, arising from labor relations, which cannot be below the minimum wage of ALL 22,000.
- 2. The state contribution for economically inactive persons is based on the healthcare consumption per capita, indexed by the rate of inflation. The consumption per capita of health care services is determined and approved by the Assembly, along with the annual budget approval.
- 3. The basis for calculating the voluntary health care contribution for self-employed workers, persons over the age of 18, with a regular income from movable property and real estate, self-employed in agriculture, shall be ALL 44,000.
- 4. The monthly minimum salary, for the purpose of calculating the health care contribution for selfemployed persons in agriculture, is ALL 4,620.
- 5. The monthly salary, for the purpose of calculating the contributions of the state budget for persons who have worked in underground mines and former employees of the military industry, benefiting

special financial treatment, caregivers to paraplegic and tetraplegic and women who retire for the period of accomplishing the higher education, is equal to the minimum wage.

Contribution rates:

The contribution rate for health care insurance is 3.4% of the gross salary, according to the payroll, where the employer's part is 1.7% and the employee's part is 1.7%, but not less than the minimum wage.

Contributions	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
Contributions for health insurance (employee)	1.7%	1.7%	1.7%	1.7%	1.7%
Contributions for health insurance (employer)	1.7%	1.7%	1.7%	1.7%	1.7%
Self-employed in commercial or service activities, ambulant				1 496	1 496
For maintenance workers, the employer should declare and pay the monthly minimum contribution				748	748
The self-employed and maintenance workers with the exception of self- employed in agriculture, persons over the age of 18, with a regular income from movable property and real estate, self-employed in agriculture				3.4%	3.4%

Annex 4. Additional details on the Social Benefits included in the Albania CEQ

Economic Assistance (Ndihma Economike)

Definition:

The Economic family allowance, known as economic assistance, is a (limited in time) support, in cash and in kind, to individuals with special status and to families in need.

Eligibility:

The beneficiaries of economic assistance shall be:

- a) Families without income or with insufficient income;
- b) Unemployed orphans over 25 years, who are not living in institutions or under foster care;
- c) Orphans aged 18-25 years, who are not settled to institutions of social services or under guardianship;
- d) Parents with more than three children born simultaneously, who belong to families in need;
- e) Victims of domestic violence and trafficking victims, for the period being under protection order or emergency protection order, who are not assisted by social care institutions.

Exceptions:

Families consisting of a single member, who meets the following conditions, are not beneficiaries of the economic assistance:

- a) He/she is the owner of any capital asset, with the exception of residential house and agricultural land;
- b) He/she is economically active (employer, employee or self-employed), except for occupationally disabled persons, blind persons, paraplegic and tetraplegic;
- c) It is abroad for any reason except for individuals who study or medical treatment as well as family members of persons appointed to work as diplomatic representatives of international organizations;
- d) It is not registered as an unemployed jobseeker, except for households living in the village, the invalids, the blind persons, paraplegic and tetraplegic;
- e) Rejects participation in work when it is provided by the employment office, participating in community service work which is organized by the city/municipality, and/or refuses to participate in vocational training courses being capable and of working age;
- f) He/she has refused to take land that has been given by Law No. 7501 dated 31.08.1991; Families living in villages and being in possession of agricultural land earn the right to partial economic assistance, except for families that:
 - i. although they have been granted land under the law, they do not possess it because of land usurpation or ownership problem;
 - ii. They have usurped the land of someone else forcefully;
 - iii. They have sold and purchased or rented and leased the land

The beneficiaries of the full economic assistance shall be those who do not receive income from:

- a) economic activity;
- b) assistance programs and social services or any other social insurance system;
- c) capital;
- d) family members who live abroad;

- e) being granted saline land;
- f) being granted land, which was later categorized as urban area for hydropower, water supply or any other activity.

The beneficiaries of the partial economic assistance shall be those who do not have receive sufficient income from:

- a) economic activity
- b) capital
- c) livestock, poultry, beehives, vineyards and gardening;
- d) pensions and other income, except for occupationally disabled persons, blind persons, paraplegic and tetraplegic, and parents of triplets or having more than three children born simultaneously;
- e) land according to the categories based on the production of field crop, vineyards, olive orchards, arboriculture (except lands being under desalination process), which are based on the following coefficients:

Benefit amount for areas except Tiranë, Elbasan and Durrës⁴⁷

Economic assistance shall be given in the form of monthly installments in lek, or in the form of monthly assistance in kind for the categories specified in Article 5 of this law. However, the letter is not used hitherto.

- a) 3200ALL per month for the spouses;
- b) 2 600 ALL per month for family members of working age and single spouses;
- c) 600 ALL per month for each additional household member of working age;
- d) 700 ALL per month for each additional household member below the working age (up to the age of 18). An additional amount of 300 ALL shall be given to those family members who attend the compulsory elementary school up. An additional amount of 100 ALL per vaccine shall be given to those family members who have been vaccinated according to the vaccination calendar.

The amount of economic assistance for parents with three, four and five (or more than five) children born simultaneously is 3 000 ALL, 4000 ALL and 5 000 ALL per month, accordingly. This economic assistance is received until the end of compulsory education but not more than 18 years. As to the orphans, the amount of benefit is the same (3000 ALL per month for each orphan). However, the amount of benefit, regardless of the family structure, cannot be more than 7 000 ALL per month.

Benefit amount for pilot areas only (Tiranë, Elbasan and Durrës):

- a) 1 800 ALL for the first family member according to the family certificate;
- b) 1 260 ALL per month for the other family members being older than 18 years old;
- c) 900 ALL per month for the other family members up to the age of 18;
- d) 2 600 ALL per month in case of a family consisting of only one member.

The amount of economic assistance for parents with three, four and five (or more than five) children born simultaneously is 3000 ALL, 4000 ALL and 5 000 ALL per month, accordingly. The economic assistance for trafficking victims and domestic/family violence is 3000 ALL per month. However, the amount of benefit, regardless of the family structure, cannot be more than 8 000 ALL per month.

⁴⁷Tiranë, Elbasan and Durrës are considered as pilot areas.

Benefit amount of the Partial Economic Assistance:

The partial economic assistance is calculated as the difference between the monthly full (maximum) economic assistance and the actual family income. The latter consists of:

- a) economic activity
- b) capital
- c) land according to the categories based on the production of field crop, vineyards, olive orchards, arboriculture (except lands being under desalination process), which are based on the following coefficients:

					Land C	Category			
	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII	IX-X
Income Coefficient									
ALL/m2 per year	9	8	7	7	5	5	4	4	3

d) Income from livestock, poultry, beehives, vineyards and gardening, which are based on the following coefficients:

Lowland Area
Income from 1 cow = 15 sheep/goats=3 pigs=5 piglets=20 beehives= 22,500 ALL/year
Hilly Area
Income from 1 cow = 12sheep/goats=3 pigs=5 piglets=20 beehives= 18,000 ALL/year
Mountain Area
Income from 1 cow = 10sheep/goats=3 pigs=5 piglets=20 beehives= 13,000 ALL/year

Families having income greater than 800 ALL/monthly do not receive the economic assistance.

Unemployment Benefit

Definition:

It is a contributory benefit for the unemployed, who were earlier employed and now are unemployed under no fault of their own. Unemployment benefits are regulated by the Council Ministers' Decision no. 223, dated 19.04.2006 and Directions of the Ministry of Social Welfare and Youth no.13, dated08.04.2016. The National Employment Service (NES) is in charged for the administration of the unemployment insurance benefit. The eligibility and the benefit amount are based on contribution for unemployment insurance. However, the amount of benefit from unemployment is the same for all beneficiaries.

Eligibility:

An unemployed, who has contributed for at least 12 months and is verified by the competent labor office as a jobseeker, willing to be employed when being offered a paid and acceptable job, accepts to be qualified or re-qualified, and who do not receive other supports except the partial disability pension, is entitled to unemployment benefit.

This benefit is offered to various categories such as:

- a) Women, who terminate the maternity leave (not earlier than 63 days after birth) and no longer have their job contracts;
- b) Militaries, who do not receive benefits under respective laws;

- c) Persons, who receive a temporary disability benefit and no longer have their job contract;
- d) Foreign citizens, who live in Albania (law no. 108/2013, "Për të huajt");
- e) Persons, who closed their activity and are no longer working, but are unemployed (the benefit calculation starts from the period being contributed to the social insurance system as an employee.

Duration of the entitlement to the unemployment benefit:

Insurance record	Duration of the entitlement
At least 12 months (since the last benefit)	3 months
At least 5 years (since the last benefit)	9 months
More than 10 years (since the last benefit)	12 months

In case of the second request for unemployment insurance (when having an insurance record of 1, 5 or 10 years) the duration of the entitlement is reduced to 3 months only. In addition, if the recipient of the unemployment benefit is employed during the period of the benefit, the unemployment benefit is taken intermittently for a period of (i) within 6 months of persons entitled a 3 months unemployment benefit (ii) within 18 months for persons entitled a 9 months unemployment benefit, (iii) within 24 months for persons entitled a 12 months unemployment benefit, but not more than 91 days for those who have an insurance record of at least 1 year, 275 days for those who an insurance record of at least 5 years and 365 days for those who have an insurance record of at least 10 years.

Income test:

Not applicable.

Benefit amount:

Unemployment benefit amounts to 40% of the minimum wage established by the General Collective Agreement.

	Before 1.8.2011	From 1.8.2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Minimum wage	19.000	20.000	21.000	22 000	22000	22000	22000
Unemployment	17 000	20 000	21 000	22 000	22000	22000	22000
benefit ALL/monthly	6565	6 850	6 850	6 850	6 850	6 580	11 000

The recipient of this benefit, who also have dependent children not older than the age of 18, who study or are unable to work until they reach the age of 25, receive an additional family benefit for every dependent child equal to 5% of the unemployment benefit (2.5 - 5% of 11,000 ALL), but not more than 30%. This additional benefit is reduced to 50% if one of the parents is working or receives full pension.

Old-age Pension

Definition:

The age and insurance period for old-age pensions for the purposes of reaching the retirement age and completing the insurance period as specified in the Law "On Social Insurance in the Republic of Albania", shall be increased in accordance with the provisions.

An insured person shall be eligible to an old-age pension under the conditions of the first and second categories if he or she has completed not less than 3/4 of insurance years. An insured person who has completed the period of insurance, having worked underground for at least half of that period, shall be eligible to an old-age pension under the conditions of the first category."

Eligibility:

- 1. Insured persons having at least 35 full years of social insurance shall be eligible to old age pension when they reach the age specified (See provisions for the retirement ages and insurance periods for pensions).
- 2. Mothers that have given birth to 6 and more children, who have grown to be over eight years old, shall be eligible to retire at the age of 55, provided they have contributed for 30 years.

Income test:

Not applicable.

Benefit amount:

- 1. A monthly old-age pension shall be composed of a basic amount and an increment.
 - a. The basic pension amount shall be calculated by dividing the insurance period completed by a person by the insurance period, which is then multiplied by the social pension.
 - b. The increment shall be 1% per year of insurance times the average assessed basis the insured persons have achieved through contributions, which is calculated in accordance with Article 59 of this Law.
- 2. The total amount of a pension benefit may not be smaller than the social pension."

Special cases of beneficiaries	The assessed basis
Beneficiaries of permanent, temporary full or partial disability pension (before 01.01.1994)	The salary determined according to the Council of Minister Decision no. 561 + yearly indexation coefficients.
Beneficiaries of permanent, temporary full or partial disability pension (after 01.01.1994)	The amount of the assessed average gross monthly basis on which is calculated the disability pension or the disability benefit + yearly indexation coefficients (however, within the boundaries of the minimum and maximum wage).
Prisoners for the detention time	4,302 ALL + yearly indexation coefficients. If the reference salary before the detention was higher than the above, the assessed basis shall be determined according to provisions.
Individuals being deported	3,494 ALL+ yearly indexation coefficients. If the reference salary before the deportation was higher than the above, the assessed basis shall be determined according to provisions.

Social Pension

Eligibility:

A social pension shall be a benefit given to any Albanian citizen having reached the age of 70, having had a residence in Albania for at least the past five years, not being eligible for any type of pensions under the compulsory scheme and having no income from any other sources are lower than the amount of the social pension.

Individual income shall be considered:

- Income from agricultural land, which receives the family whose member applies for a social pension, divided by family members;
- Monthly income from economic activity, as the sole shareholder or co-owner in an economic activity;
- Income from real estate owned individually or cooperation with others and rent or income from other forms of profitable economic activity;
- Monthly income from bank deposits on behalf of the applicant.

Income tests:

Yes.

Benefit Amount:

- The amount of a social pension shall be equal to the minimum income coming from the partial old age pension vested after 15 years of contributions paid on the minimum salary, calculated as of 31.12.2014;
- 2) The compensation for price change for pensioners with low income shall be added to the social pension;
- 3) Starting from 01.01.2015, the amount of the full social pension shall be 6750 ALL/monthly and be indexed annually for inflation.
- 4) The benefit amount of the partial social pension shall be calculated as the difference between the full social pension and the individual declared monthly income. If from the calculation, the partial social pension is less than 200 ALL/monthly, the social pension shall not be paid. The amount of social pension for persons having other income sources shall be the difference between the social pension and the other incomes of the beneficiaries.

Energy Subsidies and Landline Telephone for Poor Families and Pensioners

Definition:

Certain categories of people in need benefit from three types of compensation, which are not exclusive to each other: (i) a compensation for the removal of the protective category of the energy consumption of 300kW/monthly, (ii) compensation for changes in electricity price and (iii) subsidy on landline telephones.

Income Test:

Applicable for certain categories as specified below in the Eligibility section.

Eligibility for Type 1 Compensation:

- a) families that receive social assistance or have a member with disability, who are declared unable to work according to special medical working capacity assessment committee decision (KMCAP);
- b) a breadwinner, who receives a disability pension or a full disability pension in the village and do not have family members employed in public sector or self-employed in private sector;
- c) a breadwinner, who receives an old-age pension or an old-age pension in the village, but who are residing in the city and do not have family members employed or self-employed;
- d) The families of civil servants with monthly salary below 35000 ALL per month, if the employee is a breadwinner and there is no other family member employed or self-employed;
- e) blind people;
- f) paraplegic and tetraplegic people.

Eligibility for Type 2 Compensation:

- a) families that receive social assistance or have a member with disability, who are declared unable to work according to special medical working capacity assessment committee decision (KMCAP), and when the disabled person is the breadwinner and does not have any family member working in public sector or self-employed in private sector.
- b) a breadwinner, who receives a disability pension or a full disability pension in the village and do not have family members employed in public sector or self-employed in private sector;
- c) a breadwinner, who receives an old-age pension and live by themselves or have dependent children who do not receive any income;
- d) The families of civil servants with monthly salary below 35000 ALL per month, if the employee is a breadwinner and there is no other family member employed in public sector or self-employed in private secto.;

Eligibility for Type 3 Subsidy:

Subsidy on Landline Telephone for blind, paraplegic and tetraplegic people who needs the assistance of a caregiver.

Benefit Amount:

Type of Compensation	Amount of Compensation
1. Compensation for the removal of the protective category of the energy consumption of 300kW/monthly	648 ALL per month
2. Compensation for changes in electricity price	640 ALL per month up to 200 kW
3. Subsidy on Landline Telephone for blind, paraplegic or tetraplegic people who needs the assistance of a caregiver	1 000 ALL per month
Special Cases	

1. Type 1 and Type compensation for blind, paraplegic or tetraplegic people who need the assistance of a caregiver	2 000 ALL per month
2. Type 1 and Type compensation for blind, paraplegic or tetraplegic people who do not need assistance of a caregiver	1 400 ALL per month

For Type 1 and 2 compensations, the benefit amount is granted only once for a family via the electricity bill, even though the family constitutes of employees working in public sector who have a salary below 35000 ALL, people who benefit old-age, disability pensions or economic assistance.

Disability Pension

Disability pension (full pension)

Eligibility:

- 1. The person, getting full disabled, shall receive a partial disability pension, provided he has not acquired the minimum insurance period. The person gets this pension if he becomes disabled to
 - a) any economic activity, or
 - b) has suffered severe mutilations and physical defaults (including blindness).
- 2. The minimum insurance period to qualify for a disability pension shall be equal to threequarters of the period that is the difference between the age of an insured person becoming disabled and 20, provided that in the last five years preceding the vesting date there has been at least one year of insurance.
- 3. The person who is under a disability to complete, but that does not meet the minimum contribution period is entitled to disability pension reduced to the extent resulting from the ratio of the period of his insurance period required for full pension disability;
- 4. On reaching pensionable age the disability pensioner shall have the right to opt for an oldage pension, if that shall be more favorable for him.

Income test: Yes.

Benefit Amount:

Disability Pension	Additional Allowance for the Caregiver	Additional Allowance for Dependent Children
The amount of disability pension shall be calculated	When the recipient of a full disability pension becomes	An insured person incapable, who gets a full disability

similarly as the old age pensions.	disabled and needs constant care of another person, according to	pension and has dependent children up to the age of 18
The total amount of a pension benefit shall not be smaller than 75 percent of the national minimum salary "	MEC's (KMCAP) decision, an additional payment of 15% of the assessed basis shall be given to the disabled person.	or 25 if continuing his/her studies part-time, shall get an additional allowance of 5% of the bases pension, per children.
inininani salary.		Not to be more than 30% of the bases pension

Partial disability pension

Eligibility:

- 1) The insured person receives a partial disability pension, having completed the minimum insurance period and when any reason, except the accident and occupational disease, becomes unable to work in the last job position but can work on specific working conditions;
- 2) The minimum insurance period for the disability pension is as 3/4 of the difference between the age of the insured person at the time that becomes disabled and the age of 20. The recipient shall have at least 12 months of contributions during the last 5 years before the vesting date.

Income test:

Applicable.

Benefit amount:

The partial disability pension is 50% of the full disability pension. The partial disability pension shall be calculated similarly as a full disability pension.

Reduced disability pension

Eligibility:

a) When a person has completely lost the ability to work, not due to an accident or occupational disease;

b) If the person has not contributed up to the minimum period of insurance;

c) The insured person has used the 6-months medical report for temporary work disability.

Income test:

Not applicable.

Benefit Amount:

Disability Pension	Additional Allowance for the	Additional Allowance for
	Caregiver	Dependent Children

The amount of disability pension shall be calculated similarly as the	When the recipient of a disability pension becomes	An insured person incapable, who gets a full disability
The amount of disability pension shall be calculated by multiplying the full disability pension with the coefficient from the contribution period and the required contribution period for the full disability pension.	of another person, according to MEC's (KMCAP) decision, an additional payment of 15% of the net assessed basis shall be given to the disabled person.	pension and has dependent children up to the age of 18 or 25 if continuing his/her studies and not able to work, shall get an additional allowance of 5% of the bases pension, per children.
	The net assessed basis = the monthly salary – social and health care insurance contributions – supplementary contributions – personal income tax.	Not to be more than 30% of the bases pension.

Family Pension

Definition:

Persons who are in charge of the deceased contributor, who were eligible for or receive one of the abovementioned pensions, are entitled to receive family pension.

Eligibility:

- a) The widow, provided that she is:
 - Holders of a child (until the age of 18) who before was under the responsibility of the deceased;
 - Unable to work or
 - Has reached the age of 55.
- b) The widower, provided that he is:
 - Holders of a child (until the age of 18) who before was under the responsibility of the deceased;
 - Unable to work or
 - Has reached the age of 60.
- c) An orphan of aged under 18 or 25 if being unable to work or studies, and was under the responsibility of the deceased;
- d) Parents, when they reached the age of 65 or are unable to work, the parents of parents, stepfather and stepmother when do not have people who are responsible for, having lived in the same family with the deceased for at least one year and are at least of aged 65 years, and unable to work;
- e) Grandchildren (considered as orphans), who were dependent on the deceased and lived in the same family;
- f) The widow and widower do not benefit this pension if they get married.

Income Test:

Not applicable.

Benefit Amount:

Beneficiaries	Benefit Amount:	
The widow/widower	For the living spouse: 50% of the pension that a deceased had or should have had and 25% of the pension for any other member;	
Children/orphans	If the living spouse does not benefit from the family pension, the children/orphans receive 50% of the pension that a deceased had or should have had; When the widow does not receive the family, but the beneficiaries are two or more persons, the amount of benefit shall be 25% for each of the family member eligible for the pension, but not more than 50% of the pension that the deceased had or should have had; If both parents die, the children/orphan receive a pension from each of the parents.	
The family pension shall not be higher than 100% of the pension of the deceased.		

Early Retirement Pension

The early retirement pension for seniority (years of experience) shall be granted to military staff commissioned in the Armed Forces, State Police forces, Republican Guards, State Intelligence Service employees, Prison Police employees, Fire and Rescue Police employees, Internal Affairs Service employees. The amount of benefit shall be 12,264 ALL/monthly. These categories are eligible for other benefits and pensions such as compensation for electricity price change, bread and gas price change, income compensation for pensioners, provided that the sum of the early retirement pension and compensation(s) not be exceeded 14,414 ALL/monthly. Otherwise, the compensation(s) shall be partial until this amount is reached.

Annex 5. Poverty Graph and Severity

Figure 22. Albania: Poverty Gap at \$2.5/day from Market to Consumable Income



Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

Figure 24. Albania: Poverty Severity at \$2.5/day from Market to Consumable Income



Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.





Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.

Figure 25. Albania: Poverty Severity at \$4/day from Market to Consumable Income



Source: Own estimates using the Albania HBS 2015.